$See \ discussions, stats, and author \ profiles \ for \ this \ publication \ at: \ https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319406776$

Portland Cement Concrete Material Characterization for Pavement ME Design Implementation in Idaho

Technical Report · July 2017

DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.26361.98407

citation 1		READS 692	
8 autho	rs, including:		
0	Somayeh Nassiri University of California, Davis 94 PUBLICATIONS 1,397 CITATIONS SEE PROFILE		Milena Rangelov Federal Highway Administration Research and Technology 26 PUBLICATIONS 363 CITATIONS SEE PROFILE
	Ahmed Ibrahim University of Idaho 64 PUBLICATIONS 905 CITATIONS SEE PROFILE	6	Ahmed Muftah University of Idaho 11 PUBLICATIONS 87 CITATIONS SEE PROFILE

DAHO TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT



Your Safety • Your Mobility Your Economic Opportunity

RP 253

Portland Cement Concrete Material Characterization for Pavement ME Design Implementation in Idaho

By

Somayeh Nassiri, PhD., P.Eng., Assistant Professor Milena Rangelov, PhD Student Washington State University

&

Ahmed Ibrahim, PhD, P.E., Assistant Professor Fouad Bayomy, PhD, P.E., Professor Ahmed Muftah, PhD, Postdoctoral Fellow Bikash Sigdel, Masters Student University of Idaho

Prepared for: Idaho Transportation Department Research Program, Contracting Services Division of Engineering Services http://itd.idaho.gov/alt-programs/?target=research-program

July 2017

Standard Disclaimer

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Idaho Transportation Department and the United States Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The State of Idaho and the United States Government assume no liability of its contents or use thereof.

The contents of this report reflect the view of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official policies of the Idaho Transportation Department or the United States Department of Transportation.

The State of Idaho and the United States Government do not endorse products or manufacturers. Trademarks or manufacturers' names appear herein only because they are considered essential to the object of this document.

This report does not constitute a standard, specification or regulation.

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No		3. Recipient's Catalog No.			
FHWA-ID-17-253						
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date				
Portland Cement Concrete Material Cha	July 2017					
Implementation in Idaho	C. Derforming Organization Code					
7. Author(s)			8. Performing Organization Re	eport No.		
Milena Rangelov, PhD Student, V	VSU					
Somayen Nassin, PhD, PEng, Assi	istant Professor, WSU					
Annied Ibrahim , PhD, PE, Assista	ant Professor, Of					
Abmed Muftab, DbD, Dectdector	al Follow, LII					
Rikash Sigdal MS Student III	al reliuw, ui					
Dikasii siguei, ivis student, Of	kocc					
9. Performing Organization Name and Add	iress		10. WORK UTIL NO. (TRAIS)			
			11. Constant on Caract No.			
Oniversity of Idano			11. Contract or Grant No.			
12. Change ting Agency Name and Address			VVSU-10-UI	Covered		
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address			13. Type of Report and Period	Covered		
Division of Highways Resource Center	Research Program					
PO Box 7129	Research rogram		01/01/2016 - 0//30/2017			
Boise, ID 83707-7129			PD 252			
15 Supplementary Notes			KP 255			
Project is performed in cooperation with lo	Jaho Transportation Departme	at and Eed	aral Highway Administration			
16 Abstract		it and i eut				
The objective of this research project was t	to develop a concrete material	datahase a	s the first sten towards the imr	lementation		
of Pavement ME for rigid pavement design	in the state of Idaho. Fight cor	crete mivt	ures from five of Idaho Transno	ortation		
Department (ITD) districts were reproduce	d at Washington State Universi	ty's labora	tory using the local aggregates	and based on		
the corresponding field test results obtained	ed from the respective district	Cast nortla	nd cement concrete (PCC) spec	rimens were		
tested for compressive strength (f'_{c}) , modu	ulus of elasticity (F_{a}). Poisson's r	atio (u), m	odulus of rupture (<i>MR</i>), splittin	g tensile		
strength (f'_{\cdot}), coefficient of thermal expansion	sion (CTE) and ultimate drving s	hrinkage (e). All mechanical tests were r	epeated on 7-		
. 14 28- and 90-day ages. Based on the la	boratory test results, proper va	lues for all	PCC Pavement ME material inc	outs at Levels		
1 and 2 were recommended. wherever ava	ailable. In other cases. Level 3 v	alues were	suggested for a few material in	puts that		
were not the characterized in this project.	Two case studies were develop	ed for the	rigid pavement highway section	' ns in Idaho		
that are also part of the Long term Paveme	ent Performance (LTPP) databas	e. Paveme	nt structure, general design ing	outs and		
traffic inputs were defined based on the LT	TPP data. In terms of material p	arameters,	experimental data obtained as	part of this		
study was utilized at input Levels 1 and 2 a	nd compared to the default val	ues at inpu	It Level 3. The case studies reve	aled that the		
usage of experimental data at Levels 1 and	2 results in lower distress pred	ications ar	nd more economic design comp	ared to Level		
3. Beyond the mixtures tested in this project, tests of f'_c at all four required ages, CTE, and ε_{∞} are recommended at minimum.						
17. Key Words		18. Distr	ibution Statement			
Concrete, rigid pavement, Pavement ME	available online at http://itd.io	laho.gov/alt-				
Transportation Department		progra	ms/?target=research-program			
19. Security Classification (of this report)	20. Security Classification (of	this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price		
Unclassified	Unclassified	, 0-/	95	None		

FHWA Form F 1700.7

	METRIC (SI*) CONVERSION FACTORS								
APPROXIMATE CONVERSIONS TO SI UNITS				APPROXIMATE CONVERSIONS FROM SI UNITS					
Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol	Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol
		LENGTH					LENGTH	_	
in ft	inches feet	25.4 0.3048		mm m	mm m	millimeters meters	0.039 3.28	inches feet	in ft
yd mi	yards Miles (statute)	0.914 1.61		m km	m km	meters kilometers	1.09 0.621	yards Miles (statute)	yd mi
		AREA					AREA		
in ² ft ² yd ² mi ² ac	square inches square feet square yards square miles acres	645.2 0.0929 0.836 2.59 0.4046	millimeters squared meters squared meters squared kilometers squared hectares	cm ² m ² m ² km ² ha	mm ² m ² km ² ha	millimeters squared meters squared kilometers squared hectares (10,000 m ²)	0.0016 10.764 0.39 2.471	square inches square feet square miles acres	in ² ft ² mi ² ac
		MASS (weight)					MASS (weight)		
oz Ib T	Ounces (avdp) Pounds (avdp) Short tons (2000 lb)	28.35 0.454 0.907	grams kilograms megagrams	g kg mg	g kg mg	grams kilograms megagrams (1000 kg)	0.0353 2.205 1.103	Ounces (avdp) Pounds (avdp) short tons	oz Ib T
		VOLUME					VOLUME		
fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³	fluid ounces (US) Gallons (liq) cubic feet cubic yards	29.57 3.785 0.0283 0.765	milliliters liters meters cubed meters cubed	mL liters m ³ m ³	mL liters m ³ m ³	milliliters liters meters cubed meters cubed	0.034 0.264 35.315 1.308	fluid ounces (US) Gallons (liq) cubic feet cubic yards	fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³
Note: Vo	olumes greater than 100	0 L shall be show	vn in m ³						
	_	TEMPERATURI (exact)	E			_	TEMPERATUR (exact)	E	
°F	Fahrenheit temperature	5/9 (°F-32)	Celsius temperature	°C	°C	Celsius temperature	9/5 °C+32	Fahrenheit temperature	°F
		ILLUMINATION	<u>ı</u>				ILLUMINATION	<u>v</u>	
fc fl	Foot-candles foot-lamberts	10.76 3.426	lux candela/m²	lx cd/cm ²	lx cd/cm ²	lux candela/m ²	0.0929 0.2919	foot-candles foot-lamberts	fc fl
		FORCE and PRESSURE or <u>STRESS</u>					FORCE and PRESSURE or <u>STRESS</u>		
lbf psi	pound-force pound-force per square inch	4.45 6.89	newtons kilopascals	N kPa	N kPa	newtons kilopascals	0.225 0.145	pound-force pound-force per square inch	lbf psi

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge Idaho Transportation Department (ITD) for their financial support of this study. The time and collaboration of many ITD personnel that provided the technical assistance and the material required for the project is also greatly acknowledged. Mr. Ned Parrish is recognized for coordinating the project schedule, facilitating project meetings, and processing the projects' invoices in a timely manner. Mr. Mike Santi and Mr. Clint Hoops are acknowledged for their help in establishing contacts with the districts, cement, and admixture suppliers and technical assistance. In terms of aggregate acquisition, the cooperation of the following individuals from ITD is gratefully recognized: Mr. Jeff Drager from District 1, Mr. Chad Clawson from District 2, Mr. John Arambarri from District 3, Mr. Jesse Barrus and Mr. Jeremy Gough from District 5, and Mr. Michael McKee from District 6. Mr. Chad Clawson is also acknowledged for delivering the materials from the different districts to WSU.

Mr. Thomas McGraw and Mr. Robert Shrogen from Lafarge Holcim Company, Mr. Grant Green and Mr. Bill Traeger from Ashgrove Cement Company and Mr. Christopher Bedford from Headwaters Resources Inc. provided immense help with the cementitious material collections. Thanks are also due to Mr. Todd Ferger from BASF Chemicals for providing all the concrete admixtures used in this study.

Authors also express their gratitude to the group of undergraduate and graduate students who assisted with the extensive laboratory work in this study: Justin Jurgerson, David McAdoo, Nolan Sijer, James Amundsen, Harry Rodin, and Zhao Chen from WSU, and laboratory supervisor Mr. Don Parks from UI.

Authors also thank Dr. Jacob Hiller, Associate Professor at Michigan Technological University, for performing a peer-review of this report.

Technical Advisory Committee

Each research project is supervised by a technical advisory committee (TAC), led by an ITD project sponsor and project manager. The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) is in charge of overseeing the project progress, reviewing deliverables and ensuring that study objective are met in a timely manner. The work of the following TAC members in guiding this research study is gratefully recognized.

Project Manager – Mike Santi, PE, Materials Engineer

TAC Members

Clint Hoops, PE, Concrete Material Engineer Ron Wright, Laboratory Services Manager Mark Wheeler, PE, Pavement Engineer Jeff Drager, PE, District 1 Materials Engineer Ned Parrish, Research Program Manager

FHWA-Project Advisor — Kyle Holman

Table of Contents

Executive Summaryxi	ii
Introductionxi	ii
Overview of Experimental Workxi	ii
Final Report Summaryxi	ii
Concrete Material Inputs Databasexi	ii
Design Case Studiesxi	v
Conclusions and Recommendationsxi	v
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Background	1
Project Scope	2
Report Organization	6
Chapter 2 General Properties	7
Slab Thickness	7
PCC Unit Weight	7
Poisson's Ratio	8
Chapter 3 Thermal Material Parameters1	1
PCC Coefficient of Thermal Expansion1	1
PCC Thermal Conductivity1	3
PCC Heat Capacity1	4
Chapter 4 Mixture Design Parameters1	5
Cement Type1	5
Cementitious Material Content1	5
Water-to-cementitious Ratio1	6
Aggregate Type1	7
PCC Zero-stress Temperature1	7
Ultimate Drying Shrinkage1	8
Reversible Shrinkage2	0
Time to Develop 50 Percent of Ultimate Shrinkage2	0
Curing Method2	1
Chapter 5 Mechanical Properties	3
Compressive Strength2	3
Modulus of Elasticity2	5

List of Tables

Table 1. PCC Mixture Designs Tested in RP 253 and Included in the Study	4
Table 2. Material Properties, Standards, and Test Dates for Concrete Material Characterization in	1 RP 253
	5
Table 3. PCC Unit Weight Based on Laboratory Experiments and ITD's On-Site Test Results	8
Table 4. State-wide Average PCC Unit Weight for Paving and Structural Mixtures	8
Table 5. Experimentally Determined 28-Day Age Poisson's Ratio for All Tested Mixtures	9
Table 6. Geological Composition of Coarse and Fine Aggregate for Tested Mixtures	12
Table 7. CTE from the LTPP Sections in Idaho and Washington for Comparisons	13
Table 8. Cement Type and Producer for the Tested Mixtures	15
Table 9. Cementitious Material Content for Tested Mixtures	16
Table 10. State-wide Average Cementitious Material Content for Tested Mixtures	16
Table 11. Water-to-cementitious Material Ratios Based on Mixture Design and Incorporated Wat	ter in
the Laboratory to Achieve Target Slump	17
Table 12. State-Wide Average Water-to-cementitious Material Ratios for Structural and Paving M	1ixtures
	17
Table 13. Last Recorded Drying Shrinkage Strains with the Corresponding Test Date	20
Table 14. Time to Develop 50 Percent of Ultimate Drying Shrinkage Based on Current Test Result	s 21
Table 15. Values of f'_c for All Tested Mixtures on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day Ages	23
Table 16. District-based Average Values of f'_c for Each Test Date	25
Table 17. State-wide Average Values of f'_c for Paving and Structural Mixtures	25
Table 18. Modulus of Elasticity for All Mixtures on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day Ages	26
Table 19. District-based Average Values of <i>E_c</i> for Each Test Date	28
Table 20. State-wide Average Values of E _c for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures	28
Table 21. MR for All Tested Mixtures on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day Ages	29
Table 22. District-based Average Values of <i>MR</i> for Each Test Date	31
Table 23. State-wide Average Values of <i>MR</i> for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures	31
Table 24. Regression coefficients for <i>E</i> _c growth curve and 20-year to 28-day <i>E</i> _c ratio	32
Table 25. Regression Coefficients for f'_c Growth Curves and 20-year to 28-day f'_c Ratio	
Table 26. Regression Coefficients for MR Growth Curves and 20-year to 28-day MR Ratio	32
Table 27. Factors to Estimate E_c Based on f'_c for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures	35
Table 28. Factors to Estimate MR Based on f'_c for Paving, Structural, and All Tested Mixtures	35
Table 29. Pavement Structure and Traffic Data for the Two JPCP Sections in Idaho from LTPP Data	abase 37

List of Figures

Figure 1. Geographical Distribution of the Eight Projects for Mixtures Tested in the Project	3
Figure 2. Estimation of CTE Based on Mixture Constituents at Input Level 2	11
Figure 3. Equation for PCC Zero-stress Temperature	18
Figure 4. Equation for Empirical Parameter H Used in PCC Zero-stress Temperature Calculation	18
Figure 5. Equation for Ultimate Drying Shrinkage at Level 2 and 3	18
Figure 6. Average Drying Shrinkage Development for All Tested Mixtures to Date	19
Figure 7. Correlations of f'_c with a) Unit Weight of Concrete, b) W/cm Ratio, c) Coarse Aggregate	
Content, and d) Fine Aggregate Content	24
Figure 8. Correlations of <i>E_c</i> with a) Unit Weight, b) Air Content c) Fine Aggregate Content	27
Figure 9. Equation for Fatigue Damage used in Pavement ME	28
Figure 10. Equation for the Allowable Number of Loading Repetitions before Fatigue Failure	29
Figure 11. Correlations of <i>MR</i> with a) W/cm ratio, b) Air Content, c) Coarse Aggregate Content and d)	
Fine Aggregate Content	30
Figure 12. Pavement ME Equation for <i>E</i> _c Growth with Pavement Age	31
Figure 13. Pavement ME Equation for MR Growth as a Function of Pavement Age and 28-day MR	32
Figure 14. Equation for the Estimation of f_c Based on the Corresponding <i>MR</i>	33
Figure 15. Equation for the Estimation of E_c Based on the Corresponding f'_c and Unit Weight	33
Figure 16. Compressive Strength Growth Curve: Comparison of Pavement ME Default and Idaho State	e-
Wide Averages for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures	33
Figure 17. Modulus of Elasticity Growth Curve: Comparison of Pavement ME Default and E_c for Idaho	
State-wide Averages for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures	34
Figure 18. Modulus of Rupture Growth Curve: Comparison of Pavement ME Default and MR for Idaho	2
State-wide Averages for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures	34
Figure 19. Equation for the Estimation of <i>MR</i> Based on the Corresponding f'_c	35
Figure 20. Pavement Structure and Traffic Volume Inputs	38
Figure 21. Values of Traffic Inputs Used for Section 16-3017	38
Figure 22. JPCP Design Features Mainly Defined at Level 3	39
Figure 23. PCC Material Inputs for Section 16-3017 at Three Levels Input Levels	40
Figure 24. Joint Faulting for 16-3017 over 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3	41
Figure 25. Cracking for 16-3017 over the 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2, and 3	41
Figure 26. IRI for Section 16-3017 over the 40-year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3	42
Figure 27. General Pavement Structure and Design Inputs for Section 16-3023	42
Figure 28. PCC Material Inputs for 16-3017 at Three Input Levels	43
Figure 29. Joint Faulting for 16-3023 over the 40-Year Design at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3	44
Figure 30. Cracking for 16-3023 over 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3	44
Figure 31. IRI for Section 16-3023 over the 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3	45

List of Acronyms

AADTT	Annual Average Daily Truck Traffic
AASHTO	American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials
ASTM	American Standard for Testing and Materials
CC	Cementitious materials content
CRCP	Continuously Reinforced Concrete Pavement
CTE	Coefficient of thermal expansion
E _c	PCC modulus of elasticity
EICM	Enhanced Integrated Climatic Model
ESAL	Equivalent Single Axle Load
f'c	Compressive strength of PCC
f'_t	Split tensile strength of PCC
FD	Fatigue damage
НМА	Hot Mix Asphalt
IRI	International Roughness Index
ITD	Idaho Transportation Department
JPCP	Jointed Plain Concrete Pavement
К	Heat capacity of PCC
LC	Local Calibration
LTPP	Long Term Pavement Performance
MAF	Monthly Adjustment Factor
ME	Mechanistic-empirical
MEPDG	Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide
MMT	Mean monthly temperature
MR	Modulus of rupture of PCC
NCHRP	National Cooperative Highway Research Program
PCC	Portland Cement Concrete
Pavement ME	AASHTOWare Pavement Mechanistic Empirical Design
Q	Heat capacity of PCC
RH	Relative humidity
RP	Research project
SCM	Supplementary cementitious materials
Tz	PCC zero-stress temperature
UI	University of Idaho
w/cm	Water-to-cementitious materials ratio
WSU	Washington State University
€∞	Ultimate drying shrinkage
μ	Poisson's ratio of PCC

Executive Summary

Introduction

State Departments of Transportation (DOT) and highway agencies are making the necessary efforts to transition from the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) 1993 empirical Design Guide to the recently released AASHTOWare Pavement ME Design (hereafter Pavement ME.) This research project was the first preparatory work by Idaho Transportation Department (ITD) to implement the ME design software for the design of rigid pavements across the State of Idaho. This project encompassed tests of ITD's portland cement concrete (PCC) paving mixtures, which are used for road and highway paving. In addition, in the absence of concrete paving mixtures, some districts provided their structural mixtures that are primarily used for bridge decks and structures for the development of the required PCC material database for use in the Pavement ME software.

Overview of Experimental Work

A total of eight PCC mixtures (five paving and three structural mixtures) from five districts in Idaho were reproduced in Washington State University (WSU)'s laboratory as closely as possible to the mixtures used in the field. This was obtained by using each districts' local aggregates and batching the mixture based on the corresponding field test results obtained from ITD for slump and entrained air. Cast PCC specimens were used for mechanical tests including compressive strength (f'_c), modulus of elasticity (E_c), Poisson's ratio (μ), modulus of rupture (*MR*) and splitting tensile strength (f'_c). Other material performance tests included the determination of coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) and ultimate drying shrinkage (ε_{∞}). All the mechanical tests were performed on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day ages, while the CTE was determined on specimens after 28-day age. Drying shrinkage was measured on the specimens exposed to air drying at a constant humidity up to 54 weeks, following the initial 28 days of moist curing.

Final Report Summary

Concrete Material Inputs Database

Pavement ME features three hierarchical input levels, based on project significance and reliability of the input data. Level 1 data is based on direct experimental characterization, Level 2 uses the data from comparable projects and empirical equations, while Level 3 relies on national and regional averages and empirical relations. Proper values are recommended in this report for all the PCC material inputs in Pavement ME at Levels 1 and 2, based on laboratory-obtained experimental results and regional averages, respectively. Moreover, the values of unit weight of fresh PCC, water-to-cementitious materials ratio (w/cm), and cementitious materials content, all of which are Pavement ME design inputs, are summarized for the tested mixtures and respective recommendations are provided for these inputs. Level 3 values are suggested for a handful of material inputs that were not encompassed in the scope of

this project. These inputs are heat capacity, thermal conductivity, irreversible drying shrinkage, and permanent curl/warp temperature difference.

Mechanical properties for the PCC mix are recommended to be defined at Level 2, which includes f'_c at 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day ages. This recommendation is due to the occasional decrease in some of the mechanical properties at later test dates, which will result in a user error when using Pavement ME. The two design case studies in this project showed that the effect of Level 1 versus Level 2 on the predicted distresses is negligible. Furthermore, strength growth curves for f'_c , E_c and MR based on the experimental results were developed for IDT mix designs and materials. Comparison with Pavement ME default growth curves shows that the strength gain for these three mechanical properties is underestimated in Pavement ME model and is therefore suggested to be replaced with the values developed in this project. Finally, an empirical relationship to obtain 28-day E_c and MR based on the 28-day f'_c was developed and compared to the corresponding default correlation coefficients incorporated in Pavement ME. Discrepancies between the experimentally established and the default correlation coefficients for MR and E_c were identified.

The experimental results, based on mixture design and respective district, were systematized in the PCC ME material database in Appendix D. The results were organized in the fashion that follows Pavement ME input order.

Design Case Studies

To evaluate the sensitivity of Pavement ME distress predictions to the experimentally-established material inputs in comparison to the default values, two existing rigid highway pavement sections in Districts 3 and 5 were designed using the software. The pavement structure, coordinates, general design inputs, and traffic data available in the Long Term Pavement Performance (LTPP) database were used. In terms of material inputs, three cases corresponding to the three input levels in Pavement ME were developed for each section: Level 3 with all Pavement ME default inputs, Level 2 and Level 1 with the input parameters based on the experimentally-determined PCC properties for the mixtures from the respective districts. For both sections design scenarios using Levels 1 and 2 provided similar results in terms of predicted distresses: joint faulting, transverse cracking and international roughness index (IRI). Further, the predicted distresses were markedly lower for the Level 1 and 2 scenarios compared to the Level 3 scenario, implying that using the national average default values in Pavement ME may result in an overestimation of the required slab thickness. Therefore, the implementation of parameter values specific to hierarchically higher input levels is recommended to obtain more realistic distress predictions and potential savings to the agency.

Conclusions and Recommendations

Based on testing of eight PCC mixtures from five districts of the ITD, a material input database for rigid pavement design using Pavement ME was developed in this project. Recommendations were provided for the appropriate values for each material input, specifically mechanical parameters (f'_{cr} , E_{c} , μ and MR), CTE, ultimate drying shrinkage, and unit weight. For other PCC design inputs, recommendations were provided based on the mixture design (e. g. cementitious material content) or the default values (e. g. thermal conductivity, heat capacity, reversible shrinkage percentage). Two design case studies indicated that the implementation of the experimentally established material design inputs results in lower distress predictions in comparison with the usage of default values. It is thus, expected that the PCC material database will help ITD attain optimized pavement designs and potential savings on future projects. Based on the results of this study, the authors recommend f'_c tests on four test dates (7-, 14-, 28- and 90-days), tests of CTE and ε_{∞} for the rigid pavement design using AASHTOWare Pavement ME.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Background

The Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide (MEPDG) was developed as the outcome of the National Cooperative Research Program (NCHRP) 1-37A research project in 2002. ⁽¹⁾ In the period between 2002 and 2011, several beta versions of the MEPDG went through extensive evaluations by academia and practitioners. The development of the MEPDG started an evolution in pavement design procedures across North America by transitioning the design from the empirical AASHTO 1993 design guide to the mechanistic-empirical based principles. ⁽²⁾ Today, a new version of the MEPDG software is commercially offered by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) as the AASHTOWare Pavement ME.

Pavement ME overcomes many limitations of the conventional AASHTO 1993 thickness design procedure, which relies upon the empirical serviceability loss-based design relationships developed based on the AASHO road experiment. Using Pavement ME, axle loads are no longer converted to one Equivalent Single Axle Load (ESAL's) value over the design life. Instead, distributions of the axle loads for different axle types (axle load spectra) are directly entered and used in the design. Moreover, hourly and monthly adjustment factors can be defined to the load distributions and truck classifications where needed. Layer coefficients for asphalt concrete (AC) and asphalt-treated bases (ATB) are replaced with direct values of mechanical properties, such as the dynamic modulus for asphalt concrete, and resilient modulus for unbound materials. The moduli are adjusted based on the effect of temperature and moisture for specified time increments over the design life. Modulus of rupture and modulus of elasticity for portland cement concrete (PCC) still have the significant effects on the thickness design. Additional PCC parameters such as thermal properties and ultimate drying shrinkage are incorporated in the new design guide.

One of the novel characteristics of Pavement ME is the three hierarchical input levels, which provide the user with flexibility in defining the design inputs based on availability of the data for a specific project. Level 1 utilizes the data obtained via direct experimental characterization, Level 2 combines the data from comparable projects and empirical equations, while Level 3 relies on default values (national and regional averages) and empirical relationships of these input variables. Defining the traffic and material inputs at Level 1 is suggested for the projects of highest significance where accurate and reliable predictions are required.

The effects of climate are incorporated in Pavement ME using the embedded Enhanced Integrated Climatic Model (EICM), which uses the embedded site-specific hourly climatic databases to predict the in-pavement temperature and moisture conditions for use in the mechanistic analysis. ⁽³⁾

Advances in modeling and computational techniques made it possible to embed Pavement ME with finite element analysis models and neural networks to extract the pavement responses in terms of

stresses, strains and deflections for the specific site's material, traffic, and climate conditions. Finally, embedded empirical models that are calibrated based on nation-wide field distress data are used to predict the in-field distress development over the design period in conjunction with reliability models to account for variability.

Detailed site and material-specific design inputs are required for the design using Pavement ME. Therefore, before Pavement ME can be implemented by highway agencies, the necessary preparation steps especially in terms of developing the required material input databases need to be taken. Development of a concrete material input database was the focus of the current project, which will be discussed further in detail as follows.

Project Scope

As stated earlier, the transition from AASHTO 1993 to Pavement ME demands extensive preparatory work by highway agencies. Pavement ME includes more than 100 design inputs and, therefore, a reliable design depends on the accuracy and reliability of the input parameters. Because mechanistic design procedures rely considerably on material parameters, the determination of appropriate material properties for use in Pavement ME represents a critical portion of the preparatory work. This project, *Portland Cement Concrete Material Characterization for Pavement ME Design Implementation in Idaho, RP 253* focused on characterization of typical concrete paving mixtures used in the State of Idaho.

The project started with correspondence between representatives of the six districts in Idaho to obtain concrete mixture designs and samples of respective aggregate sources from each district. Five of these six districts were able to provide samples of aggregate from their concrete mixtures for testing in this project. Eight PCC mixture designs representing five districts in Idaho were tested as presented in Table 1. Approximate geographical location of the eight projects correspondent to the tested mixtures is pretend on the map of the State of Idaho in Figure 1.

Copies of the original mixture designs are provided in Appendix A. A summary of the mixture constituents and proportioning are provided in Table 1. Please note that a few districts supplemented the project with their structural mixtures in the lack of concrete paving projects. Structural mixtures were used mainly for bridge decks and generally have higher w/cm, and workability and lower nominal maximum aggregate size comparing to paving mixtures. It is also expected that the structural mixture will demonstrate higher mechanical properties and higher drying shrinkage comparing to the paving mixtures. Due to these inherent differences between the two groups of PCC mixtures tested in the project, the test results in this report are mainly maintained in the two separate groups for comparisons. In addition to aggregates representing five IDT districts, other constituents including cement, supplementary cementitious materials (SCM), and admixtures necessary to reproduce the mixtures from each district were collected from respective suppliers according to each mixture design.



Figure 1. Geographical Distribution of the Eight Projects for Mixtures Tested in the Project

District	Mixture ID	Mixture Type	Coarse Agg. Content [lbs/yd3]	Fine Agg. Content [Ibs/yd3]	Nominal Max Agg. Size [in]	w/cm	Cementitious Material Content [lbs/yd3]	Slump * [in]
	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, Plummer	Structural	1,850	1,081	3⁄4	0.42	611	3 ½
1	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2015, Mullan	Paving	1,803	1,154	1 ½	0.38	688	1½
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016, Mullan	Paving	1,745	1,126	1 ½	0.40	688	1½
2	Thain Road Paving Mixture, Lewiston	Paving	1,721	1,246	3/4	0.43	611	4 ½
	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	Structural	1,660	1,350	3⁄4	0.40	625	5 ¾
3	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	Paving	1,751	1,167	1 ½	0.40	625	1 ¾
5	US-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	Paving	1,720	1,043	1 ½	0.39	729	3 ¼
6	Thornton Interchange Mixture, Idaho Falls	Structural	1,762	1,005	3⁄4	0.39	658	4 ¾

Table 1. PCC Mixture Designs Tested in RP 253 and Included in the Study

*Values of slump are based on ITD' on-site tests during paving.

Upon material collection, batching and testing of mixtures was initiated at WSU's concrete material characterization laboratory (CMCL) in May 2016. Prior to laboratory mixing, ITD's field test results corresponding to each mixture were compiled and laboratory mixtures were reproduced so that fresh parameters, slump and air content, closely followed field results. Mixing procedures, as well as casting and curing of the specimens, were conducted per the requirements of ASTM C192. ⁽⁴⁾ Performed fresh concrete quality control tests with corresponding standardized procedures are listed as follows:

- Slump "Standard Test Method for Slump of Hydraulic-Cement Concrete" ASTM C143⁽⁵⁾
- Air content "Standard Test Method for Air Content of Freshly Mixed Concrete by the Pressure Method" ASTM C231⁽⁶⁾
- Unit weight "Standard Test Method for Density (Unit Weight), Yield, and Air Content (Gravimetric) of Concrete" ASTM C138⁽⁷⁾
- Concrete temperature "Standard Test Method for Temperature of Freshly Mixed Hydraulic Cement Concrete" ASTM C1064 ⁽⁸⁾

Slump and the temperature of concrete were monitored for every batch, while the unit weight and air content were determined for every other batch. The following mechanical tests were conducted on four types of specimens:

- Compressive strength (f'_c), modulus of elasticity (E_c), Poisson's ratio (μ), and splitting tensile strength (f'_t) on 6" by 12" cylinders
- Modulus of rupture (*MR*) on 6" by 6" by 20" beams
- Coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) 4" by 8" cylinders
- Ultimate drying shrinkage (ε_{∞}) on 2" by 2" by 11" prisms

Table 2 presents the number of specimens used for each test. All the mechanical tests were performed on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day ages for the number of specimens shown in Table 2. Coefficient of thermal expansion was established on specimens after 28-days, while the ultimate drying shrinkage (ϵ_{∞}) was characterized for specimens exposed to extended air drying (up to 50 weeks) after the initial 28 days of moist curing. More details on the test procedures can be found in subsequent chapters.

Table 2. Material Properties, Standards, and Test Dates for Concrete MaterialCharacterization in RP 253

Motorial Tast	Corresponding	Num	Number of Specimens for Testing			
	Standard	7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day	
Modulus of Elasticity (E_c) & Poisson's Ratio	ASTM C469	3	3	3	3	
Compressive Strength $(f'_c)^*$	ASTM C39	4	4	4	4	
Split Tensile Strength (f'_t)	ASTM C496	3	3	3	3	
Modulus of Rupture (MR)	ASTM C239	3	3	3	3	
Coefficient of Thermal Expansion (CTE)	AASHTO T-336	-	-	2	-	
Drying shrinkage (ε _∞)	ASTM C157			6		

*Three of the specimens on each test date were also used in elastic modulus testing.

During the course of the project, seven project deliverables were submitted to ITD. Deliverable 1 contained the review and summary of ITD material specifications, as well as a report of the collected

concrete mixture designs from six districts of ITD. Deliverable 2 presented a detailed experimental plan and the respective schedule as well as a detailed description of the test procedures. Deliverables 3 and 4 focused on the material collection status, as well as a summary of the aggregate testing and mixing efforts. Deliverable 5 summarized the latest test results, while Deliverable 6 was the in-progress version of Pavement ME material database developed for ITD. Deliverable 7 was a follow-up to Deliverable 5 as it provided the most recent report of the test results since Deliverable 5, as well as a tentative outline for the final report. Final report draft was submitted as Deliverable 8, the current document represents the project final report after ITD review and commenting.

Report Organization

Following this introductory chapter, Chapters 2, 3 and 4 present the material input database for concrete pavement design using Pavement ME. These chapters are organized to follow the same order that the material inputs are required to be defined when using Pavement ME. Proper values at mainly Level 1 and 2 are recommended for all the PCC material input parameters included in Pavement ME based on the experimental results, where available. In other cases, Level 3 values are suggested for a few material inputs that were not the focus of this project, specifically thermal properties of the concrete including thermal conductivity, heat capacity, etc.

Chapter 5 contains a more in-depth discussion of the mechanical parameters. Strength growth curves and inter-correlations between the different parameters are also provided.

Chapter 6 presents two case studies of highway sections in Idaho that are part of the Long Term Pavement Performance (LTPP) studies. For each of the two highway sections, two Pavement ME design scenarios comparing the recommended input values in Chapter 2 to the national defaults are discussed. The distress predictions from these scenarios with respect to the material parameters at the two hierarchal levels are compared and discussed.

Finally, the conclusions and recommendations for future research are summarized in Chapter 7.

Chapter 2 General Properties

The following three successive chapters will introduce Pavement ME PCC material inputs, in the order of appearance in the software. The methods of characterization for each parameter will be explained briefly along with the impact of each parameter on distresses predictions. Proper values of material inputs, either experimentally established as a part of this study or based on the literature will be recommended for each input parameter as a function of mixture design.

Slab Thickness

Using Pavement ME software, a reasonable value for rigid pavement slab thickness needs to be defined by the designer in the first trial run as this program is an analysis tool that can be used for design purposes. Alternatively, the Pavement ME's specified default value of 10-inch for the slab thickness can be used for the first trial run. Based on the predicted performance over the design life, more trial runs should be conducted with increased or decreased slab thickness until a required pavement thickness that achieves the desired predicted performance is obtained. The final rigid pavement design satisfies the criteria for each performance indicator accounted for in Pavement ME: transverse fatigue cracking, joint faulting, and international roughness index (IRI) for the duration of the design life and at the required reliability level.

PCC Unit Weight

An independent review of Pavement ME in an NCHRP 1-40A (02) project indicated that the prediction of transverse cracking for jointed plain concrete pavements (JPCP) using Pavement ME is significantly impacted by the PCC unit weight. ⁽⁹⁾ Unit weight of PCC at input Level 1 should be determined experimentally for the fresh concrete, following the procedure in ASTM C138, "Standard Test Method for Density (Unit Weight), Yield, and Air Content (Gravimetric) of Concrete". ⁽⁷⁾ At input Level 3, historical data from the agency should be used. Alternatively, MEPDG documentation specifies the default range of unit weight from 140 to 160 pcf, with a default value of 150 pcf.

Table 3 presents the unit weight of PCC based on laboratory testing in RP 253, as well as the ITD's onsite test results for all tested mixtures. Note that the results provided in Table 1 are the averages of four to six unit weight tests in the laboratory. The number of ITD in-field testing varied from five to nine for most projects, with two mixtures that had exceptionally high number of field test results of 350 for I-90 Lookout Pass 2016 Paving Mixture from District 1 and 107 for I-84 Paving from District 3. Table 1 shows that the differences between the laboratory and field results for unit weight range from 0.04 to 4 percent. It is hypothesized that slight differences between the laboratory and field values may be due to the different environmental conditions during placement in the field and laboratory conditions resulting in different implemented w/cm.

District	Mixture	Average Unit Weight from RP 253 Testing (Standard Deviation)[pcf]	Average Unit Weight from ITD On-Site Testing (Standard Deviation) [pcf]
	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, Plummer	142.9 (1.4)	140.7 (Not available)
1	I-90 Lookout Pass 2015, Mullan	148.1 (1.0)	144.0 (1.8)
	I-90 Lookout Pass 2016, Mullan	142.8 (2.7)	148.6 (2.0)
2	Thain Road Paving, Lewiston	144.6 (1.8)	143.7 (3.0)
2	US-95 Race Creek, Lewiston	145.6 (1.4)	142.5 (2.4)
3	I-84 Paving, Boise	140.2 (0.9)	143.3 (2.2)
5	US-91 Paving, Pocatello	140.2 (4.6)	143.2 (1.4)
6	Thornton Interchange, Idaho Falls	139.1 (1.6)	139.2 (1.5)

Table 3. PCC Unit Weight Based on Laboratory Experiments and ITD's On-Site Test Results

Table 4 provides the statewide average values. Based on the results in Table 4, statewide average values obtained in the field are recommended at input Level 3.

Mixture	Unit Weight from RP 253 Testing [pcf]	Unit Weight from ITD On- Site Testing [pcf]
Statewide Average-Paving mixtures	143.2	144.6
Statewide Average-Structural mixtures	142.5	141.6
All Mixtures Average	142.9	143.7

 Table 4. State-wide Average PCC Unit Weight for Paving and Structural Mixtures

Poisson's Ratio

Poisson's ratio (μ) is the ratio of the lateral strain to longitudinal strain when loading is in the longitudinal direction. This parameter is determined experimentally in parallel with PCC's elastic modulus (E_c). Sensitivity studies have shown that the impact of μ on the structural responses of PCC pavement used for distress prediction is negligible. ⁽¹⁰⁾ At input Level 1, μ is obtained simultaneously with E_c and the software requires one single input for μ . According to the MEPDG documentation, at input Levels 2 and 3, it is recommended to use a value within the typical range of 0.15-0.18.

In this study, μ was experimentally characterized for all tested mixtures following ASTM C469. ⁽¹¹⁾ This parameter was established at all test dates. However, since only one value of μ is required as Pavement ME input, the 28-day results from three samples are provided herein. Average 28-day values of μ along with the respective standard deviations are provided in Table 5. As seen in Table 5, values of μ for most of the mixtures falls within the recommended 0.15-0.18 range. These values are suggested to be used at Level 1 for these mixtures. An average value of 0.16 and 0.18 is recommended at Level 3 for the paving and structural mixtures, respectively.

District	Mixture	Mean 28-day μ (Standard Deviation)
1	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, Plummer	0.16 (0.04)
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2015, Mullan	0.14 (0.01)
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016, Mullan	0.16 (0.01)
2	Thain Road Paving Mixture, Lewiston	0.18 (0.02)
	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	0.20 (0.03)
3	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	0.15 (0.03)
5	US-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	0.16 (0.01)
6	Thornton Interchange Mixture, Idaho Falls	0.16 (0.02)

Table 5. Experimentally Determined 28-Day Age Poisson's Ratio for All Tested Mixtures

General properties of each mixture can be found in the PCC ME Material Database, provided in Appendix D.

Chapter 3 Thermal Material Parameters

PCC Coefficient of Thermal Expansion

Concrete's CTE is an estimate of the PCC's length change, when exposed to a uniform temperature change. CTE is a critical material parameter in PCC pavement design, since it substantially affects curling stresses, and joint/crack opening. Therefore, CTE plays an important role in the determination of distresses in Pavement ME, such as transverse fatigue cracking, and joint faulting of JPCP, as well as punchouts in continuously reinforced concrete pavements (CRCP). Several sensitivity analysis studies emphasized the significance of CTE on distress predictions, particularly on fatigue cracking and joint faulting for JPCP. ^(9, 10, 12) This parameter is a function of several mixture design parameters, but primarily of coarse aggregate type and content. At input Level 1, Pavement ME requires experimental determination of CTE by direct measurements of a specimen's length change due to exposure to temperature changes. At input Level 2, CTE is estimated based on a linear weighted average of the CTE's of the cement paste and coarse aggregate:

$$\alpha_{pcc} = \alpha_{agg} * V_{agg} + \alpha_{paste} * V_{paste}$$

Figure 2. Estimation of CTE Based on Mixture Constituents at Input Level 2

where α_{pcc} , α_{agg} and α_{paste} denote the CTE of concrete, aggregate and paste respectively, while V_{agg} and V_{paste} denote the volumetric proportions of aggregate and paste in the concrete mixture. Pavement ME documentation includes typical ranges for CTE of the paste and various aggregate types. Level 3 inputs use the CTE of concrete based on historical averages from the LTPP database. The default mean for CTE is set at 5.5x10⁻⁶ in/in/ °F in the Pavement ME. This value originates from hundreds of experiments conducted on cores from the LTPP PCC pavement sections and is considered a national average. ⁽¹⁾ LTPP CTE data varies from 4-7.2×10⁻⁶ in/in/ °F in this database.

In this study, CTE was established per AASHTO T 336-15, "Standard Method of Test for Coefficient of Thermal Expansion of Hydraulic Cement Concrete". ⁽¹³⁾ As per this standard, tests were performed on two 4-inch cylindrical specimens per mixture, at 28 days of age or later. Details of the experimental procedures were previously discussed in Deliverables 2 and 5. The experimentally-determined CTE based on mixture design is provided in Table 6. Geological composition of aggregates used in the tested mixture designs determined as a part of RP 212, using a quadrat inventory method is presented in Table 6. ⁽¹⁴⁾ As seen in Table 6, each aggregate contained a composition of four or more different rocks, type of most of which appears to be igneous rocks. This multi-rock composition makes it difficult to establish any potential patterns between the composition of the rocks and the established CTE values. The comparison between mixtures containing quartzite reveals that with increased contents of quartzite CTE values also increases. The four mixtures that contain quartzite are I-90 Lookout Pass 2015 and 2016, with approximately 36 percent quartzite and a CTE of 3.75 and 3.78 ×and 10⁻⁶ in/in/°F, respectively.

These values are followed by the next mixture, SH-5 bridge Crossing Mixture from District 1 with 45 percent quartzite and a CTE of 4.83×10^{-6} in/in/°F), and finally US-95 Race Creek from District 2 with 55 percent quartzite and the highest CTE at 5.38×10^{-6} in/in/°F. A comparison of CTE values for Thain Road Paving Mixture from District 2 and Thornton Interchange from District 6 reveals that increase in basalt content from 30 to 50 percent yields increase in CTE from 3.83 to 4.51×10^{-6} in/in/°F. The comparison between I-90 Lookout Pass Paving mixtures from 2015 and 2016 indicates comparable CTE values due to the same aggregate source and similar mixture design.

	Aggregate Content			Mean CTE	
District	Mixture	Coarse Agg. (Max Size 1 ½")	Coarse Agg. (Max Size 3/4")	Fine Agg.	(Standard Deviation) [×10 ⁻⁶ in/in/°F]
	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, PlummerNot Applicable (NA)Quartzite (45%), Argillite (30%), Calcareous Siltstone (10%), Granodiorite (10%)), Argillite (30%), Itstone (10%), prite (10%)	4.83 (0.13)	
1	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving 2015, Mullan		Quartzite (30%), Basalt	Quartzite (30~40%), Basalt (25~30), Calcareous Siltstone (10~20%), Granodiorite (10~15%) *	3.75 (0.18)
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving 2016, Mullan	Quartzite (50%), Argillite (40%)	(25%), Calcareous Siltstone (20%), Granodiorite (15%)		3.79 (0.10)
	Thain Road Paving, LewistonNABasalt (50%), Ryolite/Dacite (25%) Siltstone (10%), Opal (3%)		blite/Dacite (25%), %), Opal (3%)	4.51 (0.19)	
2	US-95 Race Creek, Lewiston	NA	Quartzite (55%), Basalt (20%), Andesite (10%), Rhyolite (5%), Opal (3%)		5.38 (0.04)
3	I-84 Paving, Boise	Granodiorite (30%), Rhyolite/Dacite (25%), Basalt (20%), Andesite (15%)		5.08 (0.04)	
5	US-91 Paving, Pocatello	Information Not Available		3.08 (0.16)	
6	Thornton Interchange, Idaho Falls	NA	Basalt (30%), Rhyolite (25%), Andesite (15%), Granite (10%), Quartzite (10%)	Rhyolite (30%), Quartz (25%), Granite (10%), Obsidian (10%), Opal (5%), Basalt (5%)	3.83 (0.18)

Table 6. Geological Composition of Coarse and Fine Aggregate for Tested Mixtures

* Fine aggregate for I-90 Paving mixture consists of two fractions from two sources with the same aggregate types in slightly different quantities. Hence, the percentages are given as ranges.

For comparisons, Table 7 presents the experimentally determined average CTE and the respective CTE range for the LTPP rigid pavement sections in Idaho and Washington within geographical proximity. All the CTE measurements available from the LTPP database is provided in Appendix B. As seen in Table 7,

the range of CTE measurements in LTPP database extends from 3.44 to 8.89×10-6 in/in/°F and the most of the experimentally determined CTE values shown in Table 6 fall within that range. It can be observed, however, that CTE of several tested mixture designs is below the ranges from LTPP database. Lower CTE values should be beneficial from distress prediction standpoint, since CTE substantially influences curling and fatigue cracking for JPCP. Several unknowns regarding the exact geological composition of the aggregate, paste content and age of the samples at the time of testing makes it difficult to compare the test results in this project to those from the LTPP database. Therefore, CTE values determined in this project should be used at input Level 1, with respect to the location and mixture design.

SHRP ID	State, District	Aggregate Type	Mean CTE (Range) [×10 ⁻⁶ in/in/°F]
16-3017	ID, 5	Gravel, Igneous Sedimentary, Limestone	4.92 (4.56~5.28)
16-3023	ID, 3	Gravel, Igneous Sedimentary, Chert or Diabase	4.36 (3.83~5.0)
16-5025	ID, 5	Gravel, Igneous Sedimentary, Quartzite	5.56 (5.28~5.72)
53-3011	WA, Not available (NA)	Gravel, Igneous Plutonic, Granite or Basalt	5.09 (4.56~5.89)
53-3013	WA, NA	Gravel, Igneous Extrusive or Plutonic, Andesite or Granite	5.28 (4.83~6.11)
53-3014	WA, NA	Gravel, Igneous Extrusive, Basalt or Andesite	4.29 (3.89~4.78)
53-3019	WA, NA	Gravel, Igneous Extrusive, Basalt	4.46 (4.11~4.72)
53-3812	WA, NA	Gravel, Igneous Plutonic, Basalt or Andesite	5.03 (4.28~8.89)
53-3813	WA, NA	Gravel, Igneous Extrusive, Basalt	4.00 (3.44~4.67)
53-7409	WA, NA	Gravel, Igneous Extrusive, Basalt	4.03 (3.83~4.22)
53-A800	WA, NA	Gravel, Igneous Extrusive, Basalt	3.94 (Not Available)

Table 7. CTE from the LTPP Sections in Idaho and Washington for Comparisons

PCC Thermal Conductivity

Thermal conductivity (*K*) and heat capacity (*Q*) are the material properties that define the heat flow through PCC and are used to estimate temperature profiles in pavement. The suggested range at Level 3 is 1.0-1.5 Btu/(ft)(h)(°F), with a default value 1.25 Btu/(ft)(h)(°F). This property needs to be accounted for as a default, as it was not experimentally established in this project. Nevertheless, previous sensitivity studies have shown that this parameter does not significantly affect the performance predictions of concrete pavement. ⁽¹⁰⁾

PCC Heat Capacity

Heat capacity (*Q*) is equivalent to the ratio of the amount of heat added to (removed from) the unit mass of the material in response to a temperature change. Similar to *K*, the *Q* of PCC determines the amount of heat transfer between the slab and the surroundings and is used in temperature profile predictions in the EICM. Typical value of *Q* for PCC recommended in Pavement ME documentation at input Level 3 ranges from 0.20 to 0.28 Btu/(lb)(°F), and the default value in Pavement ME is 0.28 Btu/(lb)(°F). Experimental determination of Q was outside the scope of this study and therefore the use of Level 3 default *Q* is recommended. Past sensitivity-analysis studies of Pavement ME consistently indicate that Q does not significantly affect distress predictions. ^(9, 10, 12)

Thermal properties for each mixture design are listed as a part of the PCC ME Database, provided in Appendix D.

Chapter 4 Mixture Design Parameters

Cement Type

The cement type is a mixture design parameter that is used primarily to estimate the ultimate drying shrinkage strain in Pavement ME. Literature indicates that cement type does not highly influence distress predictions. ^(9, 10, 12) Regardless, the cement type and producer for the eight mixtures tested in this project are listed in Table 8. Based on this record, it is recommended that cement is defined as Type I when using Pavement ME. Mill certificates for implemented portland cement and fly ashes are provided in Appendix C.

District #	Mixture	Cement Type	Cement Producer
1	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, Plummer	Type I	Lafarge
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2015, Mullan	Type I	Lafarge
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016, Mullan	Type I	Lafarge
2	Thain Road Paving Mixture, Lewiston	Type I/II	Ash Grove
	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	Type I/II	Ash Grove
3	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	Type I/II	Ash Grove
5	US-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	Type I/II	Ash Grove
6	Thornton Interchange Mixture, Idaho Falls Type I/II Lafarge		Lafarge

Table 8. Cement Type and Producer for the Tested Mixtures

Cementitious Material Content

Cementitious material content is the total content of portland cement and SCM in the unit volume of concrete. Cement content is used to estimate the ultimate drying shrinkage and the zero-stress temperature among other parameters in Pavement ME. Earlier studies demonstrated that the predictions of joint faulting and IRI may be sensitive to the cementitious materials content. ⁽⁹⁾

The default value of the cementitious material content in Pavement ME is 600 lbs/yd³. Cementitious material content for the eight mixtures tested in this study is provided in Table 9, while Table 10 shows state-wide average cementitious material contents for different mixture types. As seen in Table 9, all tested mixtures had higher content of cementitious materials compared to the default amount.

District #	Mixture	Cementitious material content [lbs/yd ³]
	SH-5 Bridge crossing, Plummer	611
1	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2015, Mullan	688
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016, Mullan	688
2	Thain Road Paving Mixture, Lewiston	611
2	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	625
3	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	625
5	US-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	729
6	Thornton Interchange Mixture, Idaho Falls	658

Table 9. Cementitious Material Content for Tested Mixtures

Table 10. State-wide Average Cementitious Material Content for Tested Mixtures

Mixture Type	Cementitious Material Content [lbs/yd ³]
Statewide Average-Paving Mixtures	668
Statewide Average- Structural Mixtures	631
All Mixtures Average	654

Water-to-cementitious Ratio

Water-to-cementitious materials ratio (w/cm) is a critical mixture design parameter, which impacts mechanical and durability properties of PCC. Mixtures with higher w/cm have higher porosity and permeability in the cement paste, which in turn reduces the mechanical properties. The effect of w/cm on Pavement ME design is accounted for through the computation of the ultimate drying shrinkage. Based on the literature, w/cm significantly affects the prediction of joint faulting and therefore IRI. ⁽⁹⁾ The default w/cm in Pavement ME software is 0.42.

In this project, the moisture absorption, moisture content, and specific gravity for coarse and fine aggregate were determined in accordance to ASTM C127, "Standard Test Method for Relative Density (Specific Gravity) and Absorption of Coarse Aggregate" ⁽¹⁵⁾ and ASTM C128, "Standard Test Method for Relative Density (Specific Gravity) and Absorption of Fine Aggregate" ⁽¹⁶⁾, respectively. Based on the moisture content of the aggregate, the water was adjusted from the suggested amount in the mixture design to bring the aggregate to surface saturated dry (SSD) conditions.

ITD's on-site slump and entrained air test results were collected from each district. The mixtures were batched to reproduce the same slump and air content as those obtained in the field. Target slump was typically achieved with the water content lower than that specified in the mixture design. Since the actual water contents used during paving were not available, w/cm specified in the mixture design as well as those implemented in the laboratory are provided in Table 11. The slightly lower values of w/cm required in the laboratory compared to the mixture design to obtain the same slump is expected. This is

most likely because in laboratory's controlled ambient conditions, less water will provide the same workability that may decrease in the field, depending on delivery distance and ambient conditions. Values of w/cm ratios specified in mixture design should correspond to field conditions and are hence recommended to be used in Pavement ME. Table 12 presents the statewide average w/cm for structural and paving mixtures.

Table 11. Water-to-cementitious Material Ratios Based on Mixture Design and IncorporatedWater in the Laboratory to Achieve Target Slump

District	Mixture	W/cm According to Mixture Design	Laboratory W/cm to Achieve Target Slump
1	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, Plummer	0.42	0.41
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2015, Mullan	0.38	0.35
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016, Mullan	0.39	0.37
2	Thain Road Paving Mixture, Lewiston	0.43	0.40
	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	0.40	0.35
3	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	0.40	0.36
5	US-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	0.39	0.34
6	Thornton Interchange Mixture, Idaho Falls	0.39	0.38

Table 12. State-Wide Average Water-to-cementitious Material Ratios for Structural and Paving Mixtures

Mixture type	w/cm according to mixture design	Laboratory w/cm to achieve target slump
State-wide Paving mixtures average	0.40	0.36
State-wide Structural mixtures average	0.40	0.38
All mixtures	0.40	0.37

Aggregate Type

Aggregate type and size influence mechanical and durability parameters of concrete, as well as the CTE and drying shrinkage. Aggregate is volumetrically stable over a wide range of environmental conditions and serves as an internal restraint for concrete undergoing autogenous and drying shrinkage. Aggregate type is one of Pavement ME inputs intended to be used for the estimation of CTE, however this parameter is not linked to any other input in software and therefore does not have any influence on the design. It is hence recommended to directly use the experimental values of CTE.

PCC Zero-stress Temperature

PCC zero-stress temperature (T_z) is defined as the PCC temperature after placement and during curing at which PCC slab exhibits no thermal stresses. This temperature is used as the baseline to compute the
contraction and expansion of the slab over the design life. This parameter is particularly effective in the case of CRCP, since it impacts the crack width and consequently punchouts. ⁽⁹⁾ This parameter can be entered directly or estimated using the embedded empirical relationship based on cementitious materials content (CC) and month of construction:

 $T_z = CC * 0.59328 * H * 0.5 * 1000 * 1.8 / (1.1 * 2400) + MMT$

Figure 3. Equation for PCC Zero-stress Temperature

where H is an empirical parameter calculated based on mean monthly temperature (MMT) as follows:

$$H = -0.0787 + 0.007 * MMT - 0.00003 * MMT^{2}$$

Figure 4. Equation for Empirical Parameter H Used in PCC Zero-stress Temperature Calculation

Determination of T_z was beyond the scope of this research project. It is thus recommended to use the existing Pavement ME relationship at all input levels.

Ultimate Drying Shrinkage

Concrete goes under volumetric reduction due to exposure to drying. In CRCP, drying shrinkage impacts crack development, while in JPCP the primary effect of drying shrinkage is slab warping due to differential shrinkage throughout the PCC depth. This in turn affects transverse fatigue cracking and joint faulting. Additionally, drying shrinkage influences joint opening, which is an important factor in joint faulting characterization. The magnitude of ultimate drying shrinkage depends on the mixture design parameters, such as aggregate and cement type and content, w/cm, environmental conditions, such as ambient temperature and relative humidity (RH). Curing method also highly influences the ultimate drying shrinkage.

Pavement ME documentation defines the ultimate shrinkage as a shrinkage strain that will develop in the concrete exposed to prolonged drying conditions with ambient RH at 40 percent. At input Level 1, the magnitude of total drying shrinkage should be established in the laboratory. However, the results of field studies indicated that it may take up to five years for drying shrinkage to stabilize. ⁽¹⁷⁾ The current laboratory test procedures may not provide an adequate estimation of ultimate drying shrinkage due to the relatively short duration of testing in this project. It is still recommended for agencies to perform laboratory evaluation of drying shrinkage as a baseline for the evaluation of ultimate shrinkage calculated by Level 2 and 3 relationships. At input Level 2 ultimate shrinkage (ϵ_{su}) is calculated as:

$$\varepsilon_{su} = C_1 C_2 \{ 26 * w^{2.1} (f'_c) - 0.28 + 270 \}$$

Figure 5. Equation for Ultimate Drying Shrinkage at Level 2 and 3

Where, C_1 and C_2 are constants dependent on cement and curing type, w stands for the water content of concrete mixture and f'_c for the 28-day compressive strength. Input Level 3 relies on the same

equation with the difference in typical inputs from the agency for w and f'_c as opposed to mixture specific values at input Level 2.

In this study, free drying shrinkage test was performed based on ASTM C157, "Standard Test Method for Length Change of Hardened Hydraulic-Cement mortar and Concrete". ⁽¹⁸⁾ Tests were performed on 2" by 2" by 11" prisms on six specimens from each mixture. After initial 28-days of moist curing, specimens were exposed to drying environment with ambient RH at 40 percent over a 64-week period. Figure 6 presents the comparison of drying shrinkage strains for all tested mixtures, with positive values of strain showing swelling during the moist curing and negative values indicating shrinkage. Whisker bars correspond to the standard deviations of shrinkage observed among the six tested specimens. Figure 6 encompasses the final drying shrinkage measurements recorded in the last week of June, correspondent to nine to 54 weeks of drying, depending on the mixture batching date. As seen in Figure 6, the development of shrinkage has stabilized for most mixtures and it is therefore safe to assume that the latest measurements correspond well with the ultimate shrinkage and can be used as Pavement ME input. Based on Figure 6, mixtures with relatively high drying shrinkage from District 2 also demonstrate higher variability among the specimens in comparison to mixtures with lower shrinkage (the first two mixtures from Districts 1 and mixtures from District 3 and 6). Relatively high shrinkage of mixtures from District 2 may be related to the high slumps of these two mixtures, as well as low maximum aggregate size ¾ in. Other mixtures with high drying shrinkage are US-91 Paving mixture from District 5, followed by I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016 from District 1. UI will continue recording the length change until the end of 64-week drying period and will report the final results.



Figure 6. Average Drying Shrinkage Development for All Tested Mixtures to Date

Table 13 presents the last recorded measurements with the corresponding time for the ultimate drying shrinkage. Note that the time of the last measurement includes the initial 28-days of moist curing. Upon

the completion of drying shrinkage recordings, the experimentally determined values will be compared with that obtained using empirical relationship given in Figure 5. Based on the experiment's schedule, the final 64-week shrinkage measurements for the first two mixtures from District 1 and Thain Road Paving Mixture will be reached during September 2017. Corresponding measurements for US-95 Race Creek Mixture will be recorded in October 2017, followed by the measurements for I-84 Paving Mixture and US-91 Paving Mixture in November and December 2017, respectively. The ultimate 64-week drying shrinkage measurements for I-90 Lookout Paving Mixture 2016 are scheduled for May 2018, while Thornton Interchange Mixture will be characterized for ultimate drying shrinkage on June 2018. The final measurements will be provided to ITD in the updated materials database spreadsheet.

District	Mixture	Last Recorded Drying Shrinkage [x10 ⁻⁶ strain]	Time of Last Measurement (days)
	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, Plummer	295.00	405
1	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2015, Mullan	315.00	392
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016, Mullan	597.50	140
2	Thain Road Paving Mixture, Lewiston	565.67	385
2	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	481.67	371
3	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	352.00	350
5	US-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	545.83	294
6	Thornton Interchange Mixture, Idaho Falls	366.67	98

Table 13. Last Recorded Drying Shrinkage Strains with the Corresponding Test Date

Reversible Shrinkage

A portion of drying shrinkage of concrete is reversible upon rewetting. Pavement ME recommends reversible shrinkage of 50 percent as a default material input, unless more accurate information is available. A study by Lederle and Hiller (2013) indicated that approximately 30 percent of the ultimate drying shrinkage is reversible for common paving mixtures, however prolonged moisture curing may increase that value up to 80 to 100 percent. ⁽¹⁹⁾ Reversible drying shrinkage characterization was not encompassed in this study and the use of the default value is recommended. Sensitivity studies consistently pointed out that reversible shrinkage percentage does not exhibit significant effect on distress predictions. ^(9, 10, 12)

Time to Develop 50 Percent of Ultimate Shrinkage

The time to develop 50 percent of the ultimate shrinkage is recommended as 35 days at all input levels, unless more reliable information is available. ⁽²⁰⁾ If the laboratory shrinkage characterization is conducted, which is the case in this study; it is recommended to estimate the time to 50 percent of drying shrinkage based on the experimental data.

Table 14 presents the estimation of time to 50 percent drying shrinkage for the tested mixtures, based on the latest shrinkage measurement presented earlier in Table 14. As seen in Table 14, the estimated

values correspond well with the default of 35 days. The final values of time to develop 50 percent shrinkage will be updated when the ultimate drying shrinkage values for all mixtures become available. Literature suggests that this parameter does not impact distress predictions significantly. ^(9, 10, 12)

Table 14. Time to Develop 50 Percent of Ultimate Drying Shrinkage Based on Current Test
Results

District	Mixture	Time to Develop 50 Percent of Ultimate Shrinkage (Days)
	SH-5 Bridge Crossing, Plummer	33
1	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2015, Mullan	33
	I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture 2016, Mullan	35
r	Thain Road Paving Mixture, Lewiston	31
Z	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	31
3	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	37
5	US-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	36
6	Thornton Interchange Mixture, Idaho Falls	31

Curing Method

Appropriate curing method is critical to provide desirable curing conditions for satisfactory development of mechanical properties. Pavement ME allows two types of curing: wet curing and curing compound. One of these two options should be selected based on the practice in the field. Sensitivity studies of Pavement ME predictions suggested that both curing methods result in comparable distress projections. ^(9, 10, 12) Nevertheless, curing compound is recommended to be used as the method of curing as it represents the state of concrete paving practice.

Mixture design parameters for all of the mixtures are organized and provided in Appendix D, as a part of the PCC ME Material Database.

Chapter 5 Mechanical Properties

Compressive Strength

Compressive strength (f'_c) of PCC, typically tested at twenty eight-day age, is most commonly used for quality control. Input Level 2 of Pavement ME requires 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day values of f'_c , which are further used to estimate the modulus of elasticity and modulus of rupture. Further, at input Level 2, the ratio of the 20-year to 28-day f'_c is a required Pavement ME input, with a maximum recommended value of 1.35. Input Level 3 utilizes 28-day f'_c to establish other mechanical properities of PCC.

In this study, f'_c test was performed per requirements of ASTM C39, "Standard Test Method for Compressive Strength of Cylindrical Concrete Specimens". ⁽²¹⁾ The tests were conducted on 6-inch diameter and 12-inch high cylinders, at 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day ages, on four specimens on each test day. The details of f'_c testing were provided previously in the project Deliverables 2 and 5. Table 15 presents the average f'_c test results with the corresponding standard deviations, based on the mixture design and test date. Based on ASTM C39, experimental results were rounded to closest 10 psi. ⁽²¹⁾

		<i>f'</i> _c [psi]				
District	Mixture		(Standard Devia		ation [psi])	
		7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day	
	SH E Bridge crossing Dlummer	4,040	4,630	4,870	5,270	
	SH-S Bluge clossing, Pluininer	(180)	(200)	(160)	(180)	
1	I-90 Lookout Pass Mixture 2015,	4,830	5,470	5,510	6,560	
T	Mullan	(130)	(210)	(240)	(230)	
	I-90 Lookout Pass Mixture 2016,	3,500	4,360	4,640	5,560	
	Mullan	(110)	(260)	(210)	(400)	
2	Thain Road Mixture, Lewiston	3,760	5,130	5,160	5 <i>,</i> 830	
		(200)	(180)	(260)	(170)	
	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	5,340	5,610	6,900	7,560	
		(190)	(300)	(130)	(410)	
2	1.84 Daving Mixtura, Poico	3,890	4,510	5,590	6,400	
5	I-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	(170)	(200)	(220)	(350)	
F	US 01 Paving Mixture, Posstelle	4,540	4,850	5,080	5 <i>,</i> 930	
5	03-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	(170)	(100)	(120)	(280)	
6	Theraton Interchange, Idaho Falls	2,800	3,400	4,310	5,260	
0	Hornton Interchange, Idallo Falls	(140)	(90)	(150)	(180)	

Table 15. Values of *f*[']_c for All Tested Mixtures on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day Ages

To investigate the effect of mixture constituents on the compressive strength, Figure 7 shows the relationships between the 90-day f'_c and unit weight, w/cm, coarse and fine aggregate contents. The value of f'_c slightly increases with increased unit weight and drops with increase in w/cm ratio. Increase in coarse aggregate content results in a drop in f'_c , while the opposite trend can be seen in relationship between f'_c and fine aggregate content. The relationships with other parameters such as slump, and air content were not as strong as the four relations presented here and hence were not provided here. It is expected that f'_c is also impacted by aggregate gradation, angularity and admixtures.



Figure 7. Correlations of *f*[']_c with a) Unit Weight of Concrete, b) W/cm Ratio, c) Coarse Aggregate Content, and d) Fine Aggregate Content

Table 16 presents the district-based averages f'_c , while Table 17 shows average f'_c for paving, structural mixtures, as well as the state-wide averages. As seen in Table 16, paving mixture from District 3 exhibits the highest value of f'_c on 90-day test age, followed by paving mixtures from District 1, 2 and 5, respectively. In terms of structural mixtures, District 2 had the highest 90-day f'_c , followed by the corresponding mixtures from Districts 1 and 6.

District	Mixture type	<i>f'</i> _c [psi]				
District	wixture type	7-day	7-day 14-day		90-day	
1	Paving	4,170	4,920	5,080	6,060	
L L	Structural	4,040	4,630	4,870	5,270	
2	Paving	3,760	5,130	5,160	5,830	
2	Structural	5,340	5,610	6,900	7,560	
3	Paving	3,890	4,510	5,590	6,400	
5	Paving	4,540	4,850	5,080	5,930	
6	Structural	2,800	3,400	4,310	5,260	

Table 16. District-based Average Values of *f*^{*c*} for Each Test Date

Table 17. State-wide Average Values of f_c for Paving and Structural Mixtures

Mixture Type	<i>f'</i> c [psi]					
	7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day		
Statewide Average- Paving Mixtures	4,100	4,860	5,200	6,060		
Statewide Average- Structural Mixtures	4,060	4,540	5,360	6,030		
All Mixtures Average	4,090	4,740	5,260	6,050		

Modulus of Elasticity

Modulus of elasticity (E_c) is the ratio of stress to strain in the elastic range of the concrete's stress-strain curve. It is dependent on the mixture design parameters, primarily the w/cm ratio, aggregate type, and content. Modulus increases with the progress of hydration, which is associated with the formation of the hydration products, and decrease in porosity. In terms of pavement structural responses, E_c impacts the tensile stresses in the slab and influences distresses such as transverse fatigue cracking. At input Level 1, E_c should be experimentally determined for the concrete mixture at 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day ages. Additionally, the ratio of the 20-year to 28-day E_c is another required Pavement ME input, with 1.2 as the maximum recommended value.

Experimental determination of E_c was conducted in RP-253 based on ASTM C469, "Standard Test Method for Static Modulus of Elasticity and Poisson's Ratio of Concrete in Compression". ⁽¹¹⁾ The test procedure encompasses the determination of the chord modulus of elasticity and the Poisson's ratio (μ). Details of the test procedure were previously described in Deliverables 2 and 5.

Table 18 presents E_c for all tested mixtures, based on the test day.

		<i>E_c</i> [x 10 ⁶ psi]					
District	Mixture	(Standard Deviation, psi)		eviation, psi)			
		7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day		
	SH E Bridge Crossing Dlummer	3.55	3.80	4.25	4.55		
	SH-S Bluge Clossing, Pluininei	(100,000)	(150,000)	(150,000)	(200,000)		
1	190 Lookout Pass 2015 Mullap	3.85	3.90	4.15	5.15		
		(250,000)	(400,000)	(350,000)	(300,000)		
	LOO Lookout Pass 2016 Mullan	3.20	3.35	3.50	4.75		
		(100,000)	(100,000)	(50,000)	(250,000)		
2	Thain Road Mixture, Lewiston	3.30	4.10	3.70	4.65		
		(100,000)	(200,000)	(200,000)	(150,000)		
	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	4.65	4.35	4.90	5.50		
		(100,000)	(15,000)	(150,000)	(150,000)		
2	1.84 Daving Mixture Poice	2.75	3.20	3.60	3.80		
5	1-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	(100,000)	(150,000)	(100,000)	(150,000)		
5	LIS 01 Daving Mixture, Decatelle	4.05	3.75	4.30	4.30		
	03-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	(50,000)	(35,000)	(50,000)	(250,000)		
6	Thornton Interchange, Idaho Falls	2.95	3.60	3.80	4.40		
0	Thornton interchange, Idalio Falls	(100,000)	(250,000)	(350,000)	(180,000)		

Table 18. Modulus of Elasticity for All Mixtures on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day Ages

Note that when using the Pavement ME at input Level 1, the values of E_c need progressively increase with age. Slight decreases in E_c at later ages for some of the mixtures, if entered in the software will result in a user error. It is, therefore recommended that in those cases compressive strength test results at all four ages are used at input Level 2. Please refer to the companion database for the appropriate material inputs.

Correlations between 90-day E_c with mixture design and fresh concrete parameters were established and the most influential parameters were identified and are presented in Figure 8. As seen in Figure 8, higher values of unit weight are associated with higher E_c . Mixtures with higher air percentage demonstrated lower E_c , while increase in fine aggregate content was result in an increase in E_c . Pronounced relationships of E_c with w/cm, cementitious materials content, coarse aggregate content and slump could not be established.



Figure 8. Correlations of Ec with a) Unit Weight, b) Air Content c) Fine Aggregate Content

Table 19 and Table 20 summarize district- and state-wide average E_c for paving and structural mixtures. As seen in Table 20, structural mixtures demonstrate higher values of E_c comparing to paving mixtures. The comparison of paving mixtures from different Districts reveals that mixtures from District 1 demonstrate the highest 90-day E_c at 4.95×10^6 psi, followed by mixtures from Districts 2 and 5. The paving mixture from District 3 exhibits the lowest E_c at 3.8×10^6 psi, however, it is noteworthy that this mixture also had the highest f'_c . In terms of structural mixtures, District 2 had the highest 90-day E_c , followed by Districts 1 and 6, which is also the trend observed for f'_c . of these mixtures.

District #	Mixture type	<i>E_c</i> [x 10 ⁶ psi]				
District #	wixture type	7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day	
1	Paving	3.55	3.65	3.85	4.95	
1	Structural	3.55	3.80	4.25	4.55	
2	Paving	3.30	4.10	4.60	4.65	
2	Structural	4.65	4.50	4.90	5.50	
3	Paving	2.75	3.20	3.60	3.80	
5	Paving	4.05	3.75	4.30	4.03	
6	Structural	2.95	3.60	3.80	4.40	

Table 19. District-based Average Values of *E*_c for Each Test Date

Table 20. State-wide Average Values of *E*_c for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures

Mixture type	<i>E_c</i> [x 10 ⁶ psi]				
	7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day	
Statewide Average-Paving Mixtures	3.45	3.75	4.05	4.55	
Statewide Average- Structural Mixtures	3.70	3.90	4.30	4.80	
All Mixtures Average	3.55	3.75	4.05	4.65	

Flexural Strength

Modulus of rupture (*MR*) or flexural strength of PCC is the essential mechanical property of PCC, which substantially impacts the resistance of PCC pavement to fatigue cracking. Higher values of *MR* are associated with higher number of allowable load applications as this factor affects the applied stress ratio to the pavement. Fatigue damage (*FD*) is calculated in Pavement ME as follows:

$$FD = \sum \frac{n_{i,j,k,l,m,n}}{N_{i,j,k,l,m,n}}$$

Figure 9. Equation for Fatigue Damage used in Pavement ME

where n _{i,j,k,l,m,n} stands for number of load applications at conditions i, j, k, l, m, n and N _{i,j,k,l,m,n} for allowable number of load applications at same conditions. Conditions i, j, k, l, m and n account for impacts of pavement age, month of the year, axle type, load level, temperature difference and traffic path, respectively. N _{i,j,k,l,m,n} is further calculated as:

$$\log(N_{i,j,k,l,m,n}) = C_1 \left(\frac{MR_i}{\sigma_{i,j,k,l,m,n}}\right)^{C_2} + 0.4371$$

Figure 10. Equation for the Allowable Number of Loading Repetitions before Fatigue Failure

where MR_i stands for the modulus of rupture of concrete at age i, $\sigma_{i,j,k,l,m,n}$ for applied stress at conditions i, j, k, l, m, n and C1 and C2 represent calibration constants. It can be concluded from the equation in Figure 10 that MR exhibits a critical influence to N_{i,j,k,l,m,n}, with higher values of MR yielding higher allowable number of load applications and lower FD.

Pavement ME input Level 1 requires the experimentally determined values of *MR* on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90day tests, as well as the ratio of 20-year to 28-day *MR*, with maximum recommended value at 1.2. Modulus of rupture was experimentally determined according to ASTM C293, "Standard Test Method for Flexural Strength of Concrete (Using Simple Beam with Center-Point Loading)". ⁽²²⁾ Tests were performed on 6" by 6" by 20" beam specimens at 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day ages. Three specimens were tested on each test day. Details of *MR* tests were specified in Deliverables 2 and 5.

Table 21 presents average values of experimentally determined *MR* based on mixture design and PCC age, with corresponding standard deviations.

		MR [psi]				
District	Mixture	(Standard Deviation [psi]))		
		7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day	
	SH E Bridge Creasing Dlummer	630	655	715	730	
	SH-S Bluge Crossing, Pluitiller	(35)	(30)	(15)	(20)	
1	1.00 Lookout Pass Paving 2015 Mullan	750	755	895	890	
	1-90 Lookout Pass Paving 2015, Mullan	(50)	(5)	(45)	(50)	
	I-90 Lookout Pass 2016, Mullan	620	665	810	995	
		(5)	(45)	(25)	(55)	
2	Thain Road Mixture, Lewiston	595	660	785	865	
		(55)	(15)	(15)	(45)	
	US-95 Race Creek Mixture, Lewiston	795	785	810	895	
		(10)	(25)	(40)	(10)	
2	194 Daving Mixtura Baica	650	755	745	880	
5	1-84 Paving Mixture, Boise	(5)	(55)	(30)	(50)	
5	US 01 Paving Mixture, Posstelle	655	730	775	790	
	03-91 Paving Mixture, Pocatello	(30)	(50)	(35)	(85)	
6	Thorpton Interchange, Idaho Falls	500	615	770	950	
0	information interchange, luano Falis	(55)	(40)	(65)	(105)	

Table 21. MR for All Tested Mixtures on 7-, 14-, 28- and 90-day Ages

When using *MR* as an input in Pavement ME (Level 1), the software considers the progressive flexural strength growth with PCC age as a default and will report error, if any drop in *MR* value is present at a later age, which is the case with a few test results in Table 10. For those cases, it is recommended to

switch to Level 2, which requires f'_c at four test dates as an input, which was previously provided in Table 15, as well as included in the database.

Ninety-day MR for different mixture designs was correlated to various mixture design and fresh concrete properties, and four selected scatter plots that showed the strongest relations are presented in Figure 11. Figure 11 shows that MR is inversely related to w/cm and air content. In terms of aggregate content, higher amounts of coarse aggregate resulted in lower MR, while increases in fine aggregate content yielded higher MR values. Note that these relationships are not statistically strong, which may due to the underlying simultaneous interactions of different factors on MR rather than a one-at-a-time effect.



Figure 11. Correlations of *MR* with a) W/cm ratio, b) Air Content, c) Coarse Aggregate Content and d) Fine Aggregate Content

District-based average values of *MR* with analogous standard deviations, rounded to 5 psi, are listed in Table 22, while the average *MR* for paving, structural mixtures and the state are given in Table 23. Among the paving mixtures, District 1 mixtures exhibited the highest 90-day *MR* at 895 psi, closely followed by the mixtures from Districts 3 and 2, and finally the mixture from District 5 with 90-day *MR* at

790 psi. Mixture from District 6 demonstrated the highest 90-day *MR* among the structural mixtures, followed by the mixtures from Districts 2 and 1, respectively.

District #	Mixture type	MR [psi]				
District #	wixture type	7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day	
1	Paving	685	710	855	895	
1	Structural	630	655	715	730	
2	Paving	595	660	785	865	
2	Structural	795	785	810	895	
3	Paving	650	755	745	880	
5	Paving	655	730	775	790	
6	Structural	500	615	770	950	

Table 22. District-based Average Values of MR for Each Test Date

Table 23. State-wide Average Values of MR for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures

•••• ·	MR [psi]				
Mixture type	7-day	14-day	28-day	90-day	
Statewide average- Paving mixtures	655	715	800	885	
Statewide average- Structural mixtures	640	685	765	860	
All mixtures average	650	705	790	875	

Strength Gain Curves and Comparison with Default Curves

Pavement ME Design Guide recommends the following equation for the estimation of E_c growth:

$$MODRATIO = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 \log 10(AGE) + \alpha_2 [\log 10(AGE)]^2$$

Figure 12. Pavement ME Equation for Ec Growth with Pavement Age

where MODRATIO stands for the ratio of E_c at a given age to the 28-day E_c , AGE the age of specimen in years and α_1 , α_2 , α_3 regression coefficients. Based on the experimental data, strength growth curves for state-wide paving, structural mixtures and overall average were modeled and the regressions coefficients are provided in Table 24. Ratios of 20-year to 28-day E_c were calculated based on the strength growth curves for each mixture design (Figure 12) and reported in Table 24. For the mixtures with calculated ratio of 20-year to 28-day E_c beyond 1.20, the maximum recommended value of 1.20 was used. Similar procedure was followed for f'_c and *MR* and the corresponding regression coefficients and ratio of 20-year to 28-day f'_c and *MR* are given in Table 25 and Table 26. As seen in Table 24, Table 25 and Table 26, regression coefficients for all three mechanical properties differ markedly from Pavement ME defaults, which will cause difference in distress predictions between different input levels.

Mixture type	α1	α2	α3	20-year E/28-day E
Statewide average- Paving mixtures	1.458	0.545	0.126	1.20
Statewide average- Structural mixtures	1.292	0.303	0.029	1.20
All mixtures average	1.388	0.445	0.085	1.20
Default Pavement ME	1.000	0.120	-0.0157	1.20

Table 24. Regression coefficients for E_c growth curve and 20-year to 28-day E_c ratio

Table 25. Regression Coefficients for f'_c Growth Curves and 20-year to 28-day f'_c Ratio

Mixture type	α1	α2	α3	20-year /28-day f' _c
Statewide average- Paving mixtures	1.285	0.161	-0.072	1.33
Statewide average- Structural mixtures	1.250	0.149	-0.083	1.29
All mixtures average	1.272	0.156	-0.076	1.31
Default Pavement ME values	1.000	0.120	-0.0157	1.35

Table 26. Regression Coefficients for MR Growth Curves and 20-year to 28-day MR Ratio

Mixture	α ₁	α2	α3	20-year /28-day MR
Statewide average- Paving mixtures	1.208	0.129	-0.059	1.20
Statewide average- Structural mixtures	1.294	0.285	0.010	1.20
All mixtures average	1.234	0.185	-0.034	1.20
Default Pavement ME values	1.000	0.120	-0.0157	1.20

Pavement ME specifies the default equation for growth of flexural strength based on 28-day modulus of rupture (MR_{28-day}):

$$MR(t) = (1 + 0.12*log_{10}(t/0.0767) - 0.01566*log_{10}(t/0.0767)^{2})*MR_{28-dav}$$

Figure 13. Pavement ME Equation for *MR* Growth as a Function of Pavement Age and 28-day *MR*

where MR(t) stands for modulus of rupture at given age and t for time in years. The strength growth curve for MR can be further used to establish the development of f'_{cr} based on empirical equation:

$$f'_{c} = (MR/9.5)^{2}$$

Figure 14. Equation for the Estimation of f'c Based on the Corresponding MR

Further, E_c at various ages can be estimated based on f'_c and unit weight (γ) using the relation:

$$E_c = 33\gamma^{3/2}\sqrt{f'_c}$$

Figure 15. Equation for the Estimation of E_c Based on the Corresponding f'_c and Unit Weight

Equations given in Figure 13, Figure 14, and Figure 15 with default values of 28-day *MR*=690 psi and γ equal to 150 pcf were used to establish Pavement ME default f'_c , E_c and *MR* growth with PCC age and these properties were plotted in Figure 16, 17 and 18, respectively. In addition, experimentally established values of f'_c , E_c and *MR* based on PCC age for paving, structural and all mixtures were added to Figure 16, Figure 17 and Figure 18.Error bars for the experimentally determined mechanical properties indicate standard deviation.

Figure 16 demonstrates that Pavement ME default f'_c is higher than that of the mixtures tested in this project at early ages (7- and 14-days). However, beyond 28-day age both paving and structural mixtures surpass Pavement ME default.



Figure 16. Compressive Strength Growth Curve: Comparison of Pavement ME Default and Idaho State-Wide Averages for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures

As seen in Figure 17, Pavement ME default E_c at 7-day age is higher than that of the paving and structural mixtures. At 90-day, the default E_c agrees well to the state-wide average for all mixtures. Structural mixtures are showing higher E_c compared to the default Pavement ME curve; conversely, E_c of paving mixtures is lower than Pavement ME default on all test ages. It is noteworthy that the default E_c is significantly influenced by γ (see Equation 10).

In terms of *MR*, Pavement ME default values are clearly lower than that of the structural and paving mixtures from the state of Idaho on all test ages (Figure 18). Overall, based on the three figures discussed, the experimental results suggest higher growth for all mechanical properties comparing to the default growth curve in Pavement ME.



Figure 17. Modulus of Elasticity Growth Curve: Comparison of Pavement ME Default and *Ec* for Idaho State-wide Averages for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures



Figure 18. Modulus of Rupture Growth Curve: Comparison of Pavement ME Default and *MR* for Idaho State-wide Averages for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures

Relationship between Different Mechanical Properties

Since the 28-day f'_c is the most typically determined mechanical property of PCC, it is commonly used to estimate other mechanical properties. The correlation of 28-day *MR* and E_c with the square root of f'_c were given in equations in Figure 14 and Figure 15.

Relationship between *MR* and f'_{c} (Figure 14) can be expressed in the following form:

$$MR = 9.5\sqrt{f'_c}$$

Figure 19. Equation for the Estimation of MR Based on the Corresponding f_c

When the default unit weight of PCC γ equal to 150 pcf is used in equation in Figure 15, a value of correlation coefficient between E_c and square root of f'_c is equal to 60,625. In order to evaluate this coefficient, as well as the equation in Figure 19, the values of correlation coefficient (factor in front of square root of f'_c) were calculated based on the experimental data. Obtained correlation coefficients for E_c and *MR* are listed in Table 27 and Table 28, respectively. Coefficients were calculated based on Idaho state-wide average results for paving, structural and all mixtures and as the function of test date. As seen in Table 27, values of the correlation coefficients are generally lower than the default at 60,625. Conversely, correlation coefficients that describe the relationship between *MR* and square root of f'_c are higher than the default 9.5 for all mixture types and all test dates.

Table 27. Factors to Estimate E_c Based on f'_c for Paving, Structural and All Tested Mixtures

Mixture type	Correlation Coefficient (Equation in Figure 15)
Statewide average- Paving mixtures	53,450
Statewide average- Structural mixtures	59,250
All mixtures average	55,650

Table 28. Factors to Estimate MR Based on J c for Paving, Structural, and All Tested Mixtures

Mixture type	Correlation Coefficient (Equation in Figure 19)
Statewide average- Paving mixtures	11.1
Statewide average- Structural mixtures	10.6
All mixtures average	10.9

Mechanical properties of all mixtures necessary for the design using Pavement ME were organized and listed in PCC ME Database, given in Appendix D.

Chapter 6 Design Case Studies

To assess the impact of laboratory-established design inputs versus the national default values in the Pavement ME on JPCP pavement design, two JPCP sections in the state of Idaho that are part of the LTPP database were designed using the Pavement ME at two hierarchal input levels of 1 and 3. Information about the sections' structure and their average annual daily truck traffic (AADTT) is provided in Table 29.

Table 29. Pavement Structure and Traffic Data for the Two JPCP Sections in Idaho from LTPP Database

SHRP ID	ITD District	Location	PCC Slab Thickness [in]	Base Type, Depth [in]	Subbase Type, Depth [in]	Subgrade Type	AADTT	Road Class
16- 3017	5	Pocatello Area, Highway I-86	10.5	Asphalt Treated, 5.4	Crushed Gravel (A-1-b), 11.6	Silty Sand (A-4)	924	Interstate
16- 3023	3	Boise Area, Highway I-84	9	Crushed Gravel (A-1-a), 4.4	Soil- aggregate mixture (A-1-b and A-2-6)*, 14.3	Silty Sand (A-4)	1,425	Interstate

*Subbase layer of Section 16-3023 consisted of two layers of soil aggregate mixture, 5.3-inch A-1-6 and 9-inch thick A-2-6 type layer. Subbase was modeled in Pavement ME with two layers, but presented in table as a single layer.

Both sections were first analyzed at input Level 3, using the default values for PCC parameters for a 40year design life. Subsequently, the PCC material inputs were defined as obtained in RP-253 and the analysis was repeated at input Levels 1 and 2.

Section 16-3017

Input parameters used to design Section 16-3017 that remain the same in all three design scenarios are the pavement structure, traffic inputs and JPCP design features. The values for these inputs were defined based on Table 29 and are presented in the following three figures.

Design Inputs									
Design Life: Design Type	Design Life: 40 years Design Type: Jointed Plain Concrete Pavement (JPCP)		Existing construction: Pavement construction: S Traffic opening:		- September, 1986 November, 1986	Climate Data Sources (Lat/Lon)		42.92, -112.571 on) 42.543, -113.772 42.727, -114.456 53.317, -113.583	
Design Structure							Traff	ïc	
	Layer type	Materia	al Type	Thickness (in.):	Joint Design:		Δ	e (vear)	Heavy Trucks
Layer 1 PGC : JPC	PCC	JPCP Defa	ault	10.5	Joint spacing (ft)	15.0	~	je (jeur)	(cumulative)
Layer 2 Chemical) Layer 3 Non-stabil	Cement_Base	Cement st	abilized	5.4	Dowel diameter (in.)	1.25	1986	(initial)	923
Lawar 4 Subarada	NonStabilized	A-1-b		11.6	Slab width (ft)	12.0	2006	(20 years)	4,118,140
and a street	Subgrade	A-4		Semi-infinite			2026	(40 years)	10,159,100





Figure 21. Values of Traffic Inputs Used for Section 16-3017

Design Properties JPCP Design Properties Tied Shoulders Structure - ICM Properties Doweled Joints PCC surface shortwave Is joint doweled ? True Tied shoulders False 0.85 absorptivity Dowel diameter (in.) 1.25 Load transfer efficiency (%) 12.00 Dowel spacing (in.) Widened Slab PCC joint spacing (ft) PCC-Base Contact Friction Is joint spacing random ? False Is slab widened ? False PCC-Base full friction contact True 15.00 12.00 Slab width (ft) Joint spacing (ft) Months until friction loss 240.00 Sealant type Preformed Erodibility index 5 -10.00 Permanent curl/warp effective temperature difference (°F)

Figure 22. JPCP Design Features Mainly Defined at Level 3

Figure 23 presents the values of PCC input parameters at three input levels. At input Level 3, all Pavement ME default values were used, while at input Levels 1 and 2 experimentally determined PCC properties were used. Since drying shrinkage tests are still in progress at the time of the analysis, the latest recorded results were utilized.

(a) Level 3 (default values)

(b) Level 2

PCC			PCC				
Thickness (in.)		10.5	Thickness (in.)		10.5		
Unit weight (pcf)		150.0	Unit weight (pcf)	Unit weight (pcf)			
Poisson's ratio		0.2	Poisson's ratio		0.2		
		•	Thermol				
I nermal			I nermal	mal expansion (in /in /0E			
x 10 ⁻⁶)	ermal expansion (in./in./ºF	5.5	x 10^-6)	ermai expansion (in./in./°F	3.08		
PCC thermal conduct	ivity (BTU/hr-ft-ºF)	1.25	PCC thermal conduct	ivity (BTU/hr-ft-ºF)	1.25		
PCC heat capacity (B	TU/lb-⁰F)	0.28	PCC heat capacity (B	TU/lb-⁰F)	0.28		
Mix			Mix				
Cement type		Type I (1)	Cement type	Cement type			
Cementitious materia	I content (Ib/yd^3)	600	Cementitious materia	Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)			
Water to cement ratio)	0.42	Water to cement ratio	Water to cement ratio			
Aggregate type		Quartzite (0)	Aggregate type	Aggregate type			
PCC zero-stress	Calculated Internally?	True	PCC zero-stress	Calculated Internally?	True		
temperature (°F)	User Value	-		User Value	-		
	Calculated Value	87.6	┨└────	Calculated Value	93.7		
Ultimate shrinkage	Calculated Internally?	True	Ultimate shrinkage	Calculated Internally?	False		
(microstrain)	User Value	-	(Inicrosualit)	User Value	520.8		
	Calculated Value	632.3	┥Ĺ	Calculated Value	-		
Reversible shrinkage	(%)	50	Reversible shrinkage	versible shrinkage (%)			
Time to develop 50%	of ultimate shrinkage	35	Time to develop 50% (days)	Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)			
Curing method		Curing Compound	Curing method	Curing method			
PCC strength and	modulus (Input Level	: 3)	PCC strength and	l modulus (Input Level	: 2)		
28 Day DCC made		600.0	Time	Compressive stre	ength (psi)		
28-Day PCC modu	a modulus (nei)	4200000 0	7-day	4540.0			
20-Day PCC elasti	e modulus (psi)	4200000.0	14-day	4850.0			
			28-day	5080.0			
			90-day	5930.0			

(c) Level 1

PCC strength and modulus (Input Level: 1)						
Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)	Elastic modulus (psi)				
7-day	655	3750000				
14-day	730	4200000				
28-day	775	4300000				
90-day	790	4300000				
20-year/28-day	1.2	1.2				

Figure 23. PCC Material Inputs for Section 16-3017 at Three Levels Input Levels

20-year/28-day

1.4

Figure 24 shows Pavement ME-predicted joint faulting over the 40-year design life at input levels 1, 2 and 3 at 90 percent reliability. Lower CTE and PCC unit weight at Levels 1 and 2 comparing to defaults used at Level 3 may have induced the difference in the predicted joint faulting. As seen in Figure 24, the 40-year joint faulting is half at Levels 1 and 2 compared to the Level 3 defaults. However, joint faulting calculated for all three input levels is substantially below the threshold value at 0.12 inches.



Figure 24. Joint Faulting for 16-3017 over 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3

Figure 25 presents the predicted transverse fatigue cracking at all three input levels. All three runs generate comparable and minor cracking percentage, as seen in Figure 25. Levels 1 and 2 use higher *MR* (28-day value at 775 psi, as opposed to 690 psi as a defaults), which may have resulted in difference in calculated cracking percentage. The low predicted cracking percentage at all three input levels is most likely due to the overestimated slab thickness per AASHTO 1993 design guide, which is overshadowing the impact of the material inputs on the predicted cracking.



Figure 25. Cracking for 16-3017 over the 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2, and 3

Based on Figure 26 design scenarios using Levels 1 and 2 result in lower values of 40-year IRI comparing to Level 3 by 30 to 37 percent, respectively. At all three levels, the pavement fails the criterion at about

25 years. Depending on the required design life, provisions need to be made to lower the joint faulting to maintain the IRI at lower levels.





Section 16-3023

Input parameters used to design Section 16-3023 that remain the same in all three design scenarios are the pavement structure, traffic inputs and JPCP design features. The values for these inputs were defined based on Table 29 and are presented in the following two figures. In terms of JPCP design features, the same default values used for section 16-3017 given in Figure 22 were used for this section. All traffic inputs were defined the same as in Section 16-3017, except for the ADTT, which was slightly higher at 1,425.

Design Inputs									
Design Life: Design Type	Design Life: 40 years Design Type: Jointed Plain Concrete Pavement (JPCP)		Existing construction: Pavement construction: Traffic opening:		- Climate Data October, 1983 Sources (La December, 1983		ia 44.021, -117.013 it/Lon) 43.565, -116.22 44.889, -116.102		
Design Structure Tra								fic	
	Layer type	Materia	al Type	Thickness (in.):	Joint Design:		Acte (year) Heavy T		Heavy Trucks
Layer 1 PCC : JPC	PCC	JPCP Def	ault	9.0	Joint spacing (ft)	15.0			(cumulative)
Layer 2 Non-stabi Layer 3 Non-stabi	NonStabilized	A-1-a		4.4	Dowel diameter (in.)	1.25	1983	(initial)	1,424
Layer 4 Non-stabl	NonStabilized	A-1-b		5.3	Slab width (ft)	12.0	2003	(20 years)	6,351,550
Contra Contra	NonStabilized	A-2-6		9.0			2023	(40 years)	15,668,800
					4				

Figure 27. General Pavement Structure and Design Inputs for Section 16-3023

(a) Level 3 (Default values)

(b) Level 2

PCC				
Thickness (in.)		9.0		
Unit weight (pcf)		150.0		
Poisson's ratio		0.2		
Thermal				
PCC coefficient of ther x 10^-6)	mal expansion (in./in./ºF	5.5		
PCC thermal conductiv	vity (BTU/hr-ft-ºF)	1.25		
PCC heat capacity (BT	ſU/lb-⁰F)	0.28		
Mix				
Cement type		Type I (1)		
Cementitious material	content (lb/yd^3)	600		
Water to cement ratio	0.42			
Aggregate type	Quartzite (0)			
PCC zero-stress	Calculated Internally?	True		
iemperature (°P)	User Value	-		
	Calculated Value	75.3		
Ultimate shrinkage	Calculated Internally?	True		
(microsuain)	User Value	-		
	Calculated Value	632.3		
Reversible shrinkage (50			
Time to develop 50% o (days)	35			
Curing method	Curing Compound			
PCC strength and	modulus (Input Level	: 3)		
28-Day PCC modul	us of rupture (psi)	690.0		
28-Day PCC elastic	modulus (psi)	4200000.0		

PCC					
Thickness (in.)	9.0				
Unit weight (pcf)	140.2				
Poisson's ratio	0.2				

Thermal	
PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./ºF x 10^-6)	5.08
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-°F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-ºF)	0.28

Mix				
Cement type	Type I (1)			
Cementitious material co	625			
Water to cement ratio		0.36		
Aggregate type	Quartzite (0)			
PCC zero-stress	Calculated Internally?	True		
temperature (*F)	User Value	-		
	Calculated Value	76.3		
Ultimate shrinkage	Calculated Internally?	False		
(microstrain)	User Value	347.0		
	Calculated Value	-		
Reversible shrinkage (%	50			
Time to develop 50% of (days)	35			
Curing method	Curing Compound			

PCC strength and modulus (Input Level: 2)

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	3890.0
14-day	4510.0
28-day	5590.0
90-day	6400.0
20-year/28-day	1.4

(c) Level 1

PCC strength and modulus (Input Level: 1)

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)	Elastic modul
7-day	650	2750000
14-day	745	3200000
28-day	828	3600000
90-day	880	3800000
20-year/28-day	1.2	1.2

Figure 28. PCC Material Inputs for 16-3017 at Three Input Levels

Distress prediction summaries for joint faulting, transverse cracking and IRI from the Pavement ME are presented in Figure 29 through Figure 31. Comparable distress predictions for Level 1 and 2, observed in previous section, can also be seen in distress predictions for section 16-3023, however using Level 3 values results in an overestimation of the distresses for this section. As seen in Figure 29, input data at

Level 1 and 2 resulted in 24 and 31 percent lower 40-year faulting comparing to Level 3, which can be attributed to lower CTE and unit weight used at Levels 1 and 2 in comparison to the default values.



Figure 29. Joint Faulting for 16-3023 over the 40-Year Design at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3

Figure 29 indicates substantially higher percentage cracking when the default inputs are used in comparison to Level 1 and 2, which is due to the difference in *MR* of 828 psi at Level 1, compared to 690 psi for the default 28-day *MR*.



Figure 30. Cracking for 16-3023 over 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3

As expected, Level 1 and 2 data generate approximately 50 percent lower 40-year IRI compared to the default run. It is noteworthy that IRI is computed internally based on the other distress predictions (faulting, transverse cracking and spalling in the case of JPCP), age, patching, as well as the



miscellaneous site factors (freezing index, percentage of fines in the subgrade). It is thus expected that altering the structural design to make other distresses pass the criteria will also result in satisfactory IRI.

Figure 31. IRI for Section 16-3023 over the 40-Year Design Period at Input Levels 1, 2 and 3

The results of the two case studies presented here suggest the significance of material design inputs in distress predictions. Pavement ME overestimates the distresses for both pavement sections, especially for Section 16-3023. For this section, using the default values the slab thickness needs to be increased to meet the transverse cracking criteria, while using the inputs at Level 1 and 2, the criteria is satisfied for 40 years and beyond. The utilization of experimentally established material inputs results in more accurate distress predictions, as well as savings to agencies due to optimized pavement design.

Chapter 7 Conclusions and Future Research

Research Project 253 was an initial step in preparation for Pavement ME implementation for rigid pavement design in the state of Idaho. This experimental study aimed to establish a PCC material database for Idaho Transportation Department (ITD) concrete mixtures. Eight mixtures (five paving and three structural mixtures) from five districts in Idaho were tested in the study.

The material parameters selected for the experimental determination were the ones identified as influential in terms of distress predictions in the earlier studies of the MEPDG and Pavement ME. The project included laboratory characterization of PCC mechanical properties such as compressive strength (f'_c) , modulus of elasticity (E_c) , Poisson's ratio (μ) , modulus of rupture (MR) and splitting tensile strength (f'_t) . In terms of thermal properties, the coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) was characterized experimentally. Ultimate drying shrinkage (ε_{∞}) was determined for specimens exposed up to 51 weeks of air drying. This test is still in progress for a few of the mixtures and the most recent values will be provided in the final version of the report. Values of unit weight, water-to-cementitious materials ratio, and cementitious material content were reported based on the mixture design and/or laboratory values. All the material parameters necessary for pavement design in Pavement ME were organized and provided in the PCC ME Material Database in Appendix D.

Pavement ME requires the continuous increase of all the mechanical parameters with time. For a handful of cases where a minor decline in E_c or MR with age was observed (necessary parameters at input Level 1), use of Level 2 which relies on f'_c at all ages was recommended. As seen later in the design case studies, input Levels 1 and 2 generate comparable distress predictions. Strength growth curves for f'_c , E_c and MR based on the experimental results were developed and compared to Pavement ME defaults. While experimentally determined MR and f'_c on later test ages surpass Pavement ME default values, experimentally established E_c is lower than Pavement ME default. The only exception for this trend can be seen for structural mixtures beyond 14-day age. The strength growth for all three of these mechanical properties is at a higher rate based on the experimental data than with the default Pavement ME strength growth curve model. The correlations between 28-day E_c and MR with f'_c were also compared to Pavement ME defaults. It was concluded that the correlation coefficients for experimentally determined MR were higher than the default coefficient specified by Pavement ME. Conversely, the correlation factors for E_c are lower than the default value utilized in Pavement ME.

Two case studies were designed in Pavement ME based on Long Term Pavement Performance (LTPP) rigid pavement sections in Districts 3 and 5 in Idaho. Pavement structure, coordinates and traffic data were obtained from the LTPP database, while the material inputs were classified in three distinct cases correspondent to three input Levels. Level 3 included all Pavement ME default inputs, while Level 1 and Level 2 used experimentally-established PCC properties. For both sections, the use of input data at Levels 1 and 2 resulted in substantially lower distress predictions in terms of joint faulting, transverse

cracking and international roughness index (IRI). The input levels were found insignificant for Section 16-3017 in terms of fatigue cracking, however the influence of the input levels seem to be masked by the initially overdesigned slab thickness following AASHTO 93 Design Guide. Therefore, it is recommended to utilize the experimentally-established input data when available to obtain the most realistic distress predictions and an optimized design. For additional mixtures beyond those tested in this project, determination of f'_c on the four test dates, characterization of CTE and ε_{∞} are recommended at minimum. It is expected that this experimental scheme can provide a satisfactory accuracy for pavement design and distress predictions.

In terms of input characterization, it is recommended that proper values are developed for the permanent curl/warp temperature difference for the rigid pavements in the state of Idaho.

References

- 1. Ara I. ERES Consultants Division. *Guide for Mechanistic- Empirical Design of New and Rehabilitated Pavement Structures*, Final Report to the National Cooperative Highway Research Program, 2004.
- 2. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials. AASHTO Guide for Design of Pavement Structures, 1993 (Vol. 1).
- 3. Larson G, Dempsey BJ. Enhanced integrated climatic model Version 2.0. Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering; 1997.
- 4. **Gillerman VS, Weppner KN.** *Lithologic Characterization of Active ITD Aggregate Sources and Implications for Aggregate Quality.* No. FHWA-ID-14-212.2014.
- 5. **ASTM. C192/C192M, 2015.** *Standard Practice for Making and Curing Concrete Test Specimens in the Laboratory*, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 2 10.1520/C0192_C0192M-15.
- 6. **ASTM. C143/C143-M, 2015.** *Standard Test Method for Slump of Hydraulic-Cement Concrete*, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0143-15.
- 7. **ASTM. C231/C231-M, 2014**, *Standard Test Method for Air Content of Freshly Mixed Concrete by the Pressure Method*, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0231-14.
- ASTM. C138/C138-M, 2016, Standard Test Method for Density (Unit Weight), Yield and Air Content (Gravimetric) of Concrete, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0138-16.
- 9. **ASTM C1064/C1064-M-12,** *Standard Test Method for Temperature of Freshly Mixed Hydraulic Cement Concrete,* ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2012, DOI: 10.1520/C01064-12.
- 10. Brown SF, Darter M, Larson G, Witczak M, El-Basyouny MM. Independent Review of the "Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide" and Software, NCHRP research results digest, 2006(307).
- Hall, K. D. and S. Beam. Estimation of Sensitivity of Design Input Variables for Rigid PavementAnalysis with a Mechanistic-Empirical Design Guide, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board No. 1919. Transportation Research Board. Washington DC, 2005.
- 12. **ASTM. C469/C469-M, 2014**, *Standard Test Method for Static Modulus of Elasticity and Poisson's Ratio of Concrete in Compression*, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0469-14.
- 13. **Coree B, Ceylan H, Harrington D.** Implementing the Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide: Implementation Plan, 2005.
- 14. **AASHTO T336-15.** Standard Method of Test for Coefficient of Thermal Expansion of Hydraulic Cement Concrete.
- 15. **ASTM. C127/C127-M, 2015**, *Standard Test Method for Relative Density (Specific Gravity) and Absorption of Coarse Aggregate*, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0127-15.1993: American Society for Testing and Materials Philadelphia, PA.
- 16. **ASTM. C128/C128-M, 2015**, *Standard Test Method for Relative Density (Specific Gravity) and Absorption of Fine Aggregate*, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0128-15.

- 17. Burnham T, Koubaa A. Determining the Coefficient of Thermal Expansion And Shrinkage of Jointed Concrete Pavement, 2nd Annual Mn/ROAD Workshop, Minnesota, 2002.
- ASTM. C157/C157-M, 2008, Standard Test Method for Length Change of Hardened Hydraulic-Cement Mortar and Concrete, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0157-08.
- 19. Lederle RE, Hiller JE. *Reversible Shrinkage of Concrete Made with Recycled Concrete Aggregate and Other Aggregate Types.* ACI Materials Journal. 2013;110(4).
- 20. American Concrete Institute Committee 209 PoC. Shrinkage and Temperature Effects in Concrete Structures, ACI 209-92, Detroit 1992.
- 21. ASTM. C39/C39M-05, 2005, Standard Test Method for Compressive Strength of Cylindrical Concrete Specimens, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2005, DOI: 10.1520/C0039_C0039M-05E01.
- ASTM. C293/C293-M, 2015, Standard Test Method for Flexural Strength of Concrete (Using Simple Beam with Center-Point Loading), ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, DOI: 10.1520/C0293-15.

Appendix A

Mixture Designs for the Tested Mixtures in the Project

District 1

I-90 Lookout Pass 2015 Paving Mixture Design

CONCRETE MIX CALCULATION

DATE: 24-Jul-15

FOR:

ACME

PROJECT: i-90 Paving

0.50%

MIX: Centralia	a Mix - Adj #1							W/C RATIO	0.38
			_			_		WT.CU.FT.	144.55
				Revised Mix for		=======			
				CUBIC FEET			MATERIAL		S.S.D.
	SSD WT.	VOLUME	BATCH WT.	2.00			SOURCE		SP.G
Туре І	550	2.80	550	40.74	pounds		Туре І		3.15
Fly Ash	138	0.85	138	10.22		20%	Fly Ash		2.59
Silca Fume	0	0.00	0	0.00	pounds	0%	Silica Fume		2.20
Slag	0	0.00	0	0.00	pounds	0%	Slag		2.87
Coarse SANE	808	4.85	823	60.96	pounds	27%	C Sand		2.67
1 1/2	541	3.28	539	39.91	pounds	18%	1 1/2		2.64
3/4	1262	7.66	1250	92.57		43%	3/4		2.64
Fine Sand	346	2.06	345	25.54	pounds	12%	3/8		2.69
WATER	31.0	4.14	31.1	19.21	pounds		WATER		1.00
AIR%	5.0%	1.35	5.0%				AIR ENTRA	INED	
AIROZ/100	1.00		6.9	15.02	mL				AE-90
WROZ/100	5.00		34	75.08	mL		WATER RE	DUCER	POZZ 80
SWR/100	0.00		0	0.00	mL		SUPER PL	ASTICIZER	
		VOLUME				-			
TOTAL WT	3903	27.00							
						TARGET V	OLUME	27.00	
c/a ratio	60.98%					Total Moist	ure - Sand	5.25%	
% MORTAR	50%	PASS #8	90.0%			Total Moist	ure - 1 3/8"	1.00%	
	0070		001070			Total Moist	ure - 3/4"	0.50%	
								0.007	•

SH-5 Bridge Crossing Mixture



CONCRETE MIX DESIGN

PROJECT: CONTRACTOR: MIX DESIGN: PLANT LOCATION: CEMENT TYPE: PRODUCT USE: DISPATCH: 208.712-2030	SH-5 RAILROAD BR, PL RALPH L. WADSWORT 320006 ITD CLASS 40 A INTERSTATE LAFARGE I-II CLASS 40 A	DATE: SLUMP: w/ Super P: W/C: AIR:	03/24/15 3.5" 8.5" MAX .44 MAX 5.0%-8.0%			
		SPECIFIC				
	AGGREGATE	GRAVITY				
	3/4" ROCK	2.62				
	ITD FINE AGG	2.59				
DESCR	RIPTION	VOLUME	WEIGHTS			
CEN	ENT	2.44	644			
		3.11	611			
CTL OTL		0.00	0			
WA	TER	4.13	258			
3/4" F	ROCK	11.32	1850			
0.1.1		11.02				
ITD FINE A	GGREGATE	6.69	1081			
AIR PE	RCENT	1.76	6.5%			
то	TAL	27.00	3800			

ADMIXTURES: AIR ENTRAINMENT ADMIXTURE, WATER REDUCING ADMIXTURE.

REMARKS: MAY BE PLACED BY CHUTE OR PUMP.

Edward Benson QUALITY CONTROL

I-90 Lookout Pass 2016 Paving Mixture Design

DATE:	5-Jul-16									
FOR:	ACME Look Out Pas	5				PROJECT:				
MIX:	Ritchey Saud 4000psi	5" Max Slu	mp	Povised Mix for I	Voisturo	1		W/C RATIO WT.CU.FT.	0.40 142.01	
		-		CUBIC REET	woisture		MATERIAL		S.S.D.	
	SSD WT.	VOLUME	BATCH WT.	1.00			SOURCE		SP.G	Absorption
MaxCem	550	2,80	550	20,37	pounds		Type ISM		3.15	
Fly Ash	138	0.97	138	5.11		20%	Fly Ash		2.27	
Silca Fume	D	0.00	0	0.00	pounds	0%	Silica Furne	9	2,20	
Slag	D	0,00	0	0,00	pounds	0%	Slag		2.87	
Coarse SAND***	619	3,72	639	23.66	pounds	22%	C Sand		2.67	2.21%
Fine Sand	507	3.02	499	18.50	pounds	18%	F Sand		2.69	2.52%
1 1/2	615	3,73	612	22.66		21%	1.5		2.64	1.00%
3/4	1130	6,86	1124	41.62	pounds	39%	3/4		2,64	1.05%
WATER	33.0	4.41	32.8	10,13	pounds		WATER		1.00	
AIR%	5.5%	1.49	5.5%				AIR ENTRA	AINED		
AIROZ/100	1.00		6.9	7.51	mL				AE-90	
WROZ/100	5.00		34	37,54	mL		WATER RE	EDUCER	pozz 80	
SWR/100	4.00		28	30.03	mi.		SUPER PL	ASTICIZER	matrix 33	
		VOLUME				•				-0,566
TOTAL WT	3834	27.00								
						TARGET V	OLUME	27.00		
c/a ratio	61%					Total Moist	ure - Sand	5,25%		
% MORTAR	48%	PASS #6	90.0%			Total Moist	ure - 1 3/8"	1.00%		
						Total Moist	ure - 3/4"	0.50%		
						Total Moist	ure - 3/8''	0.50%		

CONCRETE MIX CALCULATION

This concrete mix design is only a suggested starting point, based upon materials meeting ASTM requirements. LAFARGE NORTH AMERICA MAKES NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WITH RESPECT TO THIS MIX DESIGN AND WILL ACCEPT NO LIABILITY FOR ITS USE.

61/39

SUBMITTED BY:

DATE:

.
Thain Road Paving Mixture

Atlas Concrete 4341 Snake River Ave. Lewiston , Idaho , 83501 208-746-9985

Concrete Mix Design Mix 8 Strength Compressive: 4,000 psi

Contractor :	Stillwater Electric				
Project :	Thain And Grelle Intersection				
Source of Concrete :	Atlas Concrete				
Construction Type :	Class 40				
Placement :	Tailgate/Pump				

Weights per Cubic Yard	(Saturated, Su	rface-Dry)	
	Quantity	Density	Yield, ft ³
ASTM C-150 Type I/II Cement, 1b	489	3.150	2.49
ASTM C-618 Class F Fly Ash, 1b	122	2.600	0.75
Well Water , 1b	265	1.000	4.25
ASTM C-33 Coarse Aggregate , 1b	1,721	2,720	10.14
ASTM C-33 Fine Aggregate , 1b	1,246	2.640	7.57
ASTM C-494 Type A Water Reducer , oz	(US) 45.0	1.000	0.05
ASTM C-260 Air Entrainment , oz (US)	5.0	1.000	0.01
Total Air, %	6.5 ±	1.5	1.76
		TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb	0.43	TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb Slump, High, in	0.43	TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb Slump, High, in	0.43	TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb Slump, High, in Low, in Super Plasticizer High in	0.43 5.00 3.00	TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb Slump, High, in Low, in Super Plasticizer High, in Super Plasticizer Low, in	0.43 5.00 3.00 8.00	TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb Slump, High, in Low, in Super Plasticizer High, in Super Plasticizer Low, in	0.43 5.00 3.00 8.00 5.00	TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb Slump, High, in Low, in Super Plasticizer High, in Super Plasticizer Low, in Concrete Unit Weight, pcf	0.43 5.00 3.00 8.00 5.00 142.47	TOTAL	27.00
Water/Cement Ratio, lbs/lb Slump, High, in Low, in Super Plasticizer High, in Super Plasticizer Low, in Concrete Unit Weight, pcf Yield, %	0.43 5.00 3.00 8.00 5.00 142.47 100.0	TOTAL	27.00

ACTUAL BATCH WEIGHTS WILL VARY DEPENDING ON THE MOISTURE CONTENT OF THE CONCRETE AGGREGATES. ACCEPTANCE OF THIS MIX CARRIES WITH IT THE INCLUSION OF ATLAS CONCRETE ON THE DISTRIBUTION LIST OF ALL TEST REPORTS PLASTISIZER, STABILIZER ON REQUEST

Prepared by :

Dennis Anderson

US95 Race Creek Bridge Mixture

Accumix

CONCRETE MIX DESIGN

Mix ID Number:	40 C1 A		D	ste:		26-Aug-15	
Design Strength:	4000 pai		Plant:		Gran	Grangeville	
	28 MP.		Designed By:		Accu	Accumix	
MIX DESIGN QU	IANTITIES:		Eng	lian Unita		Matric Ur	lita
		Seec		Veru			Velume
Material	Product/Source	Grav	Weight	(n.3) N	1	(m 3)
Cement	Ash Grove Durkee, Type I-II	3.15	500 ib	2.5	4	297 kg	0.094
Fly Ash	ENX Genesee Class F	2.03	125 њ	0.9	9	74 kg	0.036
Silica Fume	Baar	2.20	0 њ	0.0	0	0 kg	0.000
Water (Total)	City Source	1.00	250 њ	4.0)1	148 kg	0.148
3/4-#4	Salmon River Pit	2.76 *	1660 њ	9.6	64	985 kg	0.357
Ground Limestone	John Day Cr. Pit	2.68	0 њ	0.0	0	0 kg	0.000
F 4	c	2.60	0 њ	0.0	0	0 kg	0.000
Fine Aggregate	Dalmon Kiver Pit	2.68	1350 њ	8.0	17	804 kg	0.300
	Tatat Mix Walabt		3885 15			2308 ba	
Α	(Entrap/Entrain)	6.5 %	500010	1.7	6	2000 89	0.065
	Total Mix Volume:			27.0)1		1.000
Product ORES.	Product Name/Ture	D	Rete	D (F		D	(M)
Ais Fatace	Res AF-90	0.28	- IX810	18/-	ngilan)	Dos	70 - 1/- 3**
Water Reducer	322N	40 a	z/ c wt	25.0 orles			968 mL/m3**
Superplasticizer	Base Z60	4.0 a	lewt"	25.0 oz/c			968 mL/m3**
Superplasticizer	Base Gianium 3030	2.0 -	z/cwt**	13.0 oz/cy			503 mL/m3**
Hydration Stabilizer	Bast Daivo	0.0	z/cwt**	0.0 oz/c			0 mL/m3**
Accelerator	Base NC534	0.0	z/cwt**	0.0 02/03			0 mL/m3**
Fibera		0.0 ты	/cy**	0.0 ты/су			0.0 kg/m3**
MIX DESIGN PR	OPERTIES:						
Aggregate Propert	les:	SG	A _b	FM	Dry	Rodded Unit	ι Wε
	3/4-#4	2.76	1.3%	n/a	101.0 pcr	1	618 kg/m3
	Ground Limestone	2.68	0.2%	n/a	per		к g/m З
		2.60	3.1%	n/a	pof		k g/m 3
	Fine Aggregate	2.68	1.6%	2.90	n/a		n/a
Plastic Properties:		Stump:	6.0 <u>+</u>	2.0 inch		150 <u>+</u>	50 mm
	Air	Content:	6.5 <u>+</u>	1.5 %			
	Unit	t Weight:	143.8 ре	:r		2308 kg/m	3
Design Properties:	Total Cam	entitious:	625 ть			371 kg	
	Fly Ash Repli	cement.	20.0 %	W/	C Ratio:	0.40 (incl	Admix)
D							
Control of							
Comments:	W/C ratio can be increa	sed to but	t not exce	ed .42			
Usage:							
-							
Footnotes:	* SSD Weights and Spec Gra	vities. **Ad	Imixture do	sage rates w	ill be adjusted :	sccording	
	to manufacturer's recommend	ations to ac	commodat	te varying fiel	d conditions.		
This mix design is p	redicated on the specific inform	nation and	or material	s provided by	the customer	and therefore	e. Change in
design components	or proportions, materials grad	ations and/	or field plac	ement and c	uring practices	will all stron	gly affect the
ultimate quality of co	oncrete. User should confirm (each labora	tory design	with concret	e batched on a	ite and then	routinely run
quality control check	ts to verify yield, air content an	d compres	sive streng	th because th	ne physical and	chemical ch	aracteristics of
materials may vary.							

I-84 Paving Mixture

Concrete Placing Company 6451 West Gowen Road Boise, Idaho 83709 Phone: 208.362.2100 Fax: 208.362.2220

CONCRETE MIX DESIGN REPORT BIC/MIC_500_125 Mix#2014_001 Compressive Strength: 5600

Contractor:	Concrete Placing Company
Project:	Broadway IC A009(081), A012(029) & A012(379)
Source of Concrete:	Portable Wet Batch
Project Type:	4500 PSI Paving
Placement Type:	Slipform

Material / Source or Designation / Blend ¹	Quar	tity (SSD)	S.G.		rield, ft°	
Type I/II Cement / Ash Grove Cement / 80%		500 lb	3.15		2.54	
Type F Ash (Bridger) / Head Waters / 20%		125 lb	2.36		0.85	
Water / Boise City Water		248 lb	1.00		3.97	
1 1/2" / 1.5" / 17.96%	3	524 lb	2.61		3.22	
3/4" / .75" / 42.05%	1	227 lb	2.61		7.54	
Sand / Sand / 39.99%	1	167 lb	2.59		7.23	
Total Air, percent		6%			1.62	
AE 90 / BASE	5 fl	oz (US)	1.01		0.00	
Pozz 80 / BASF	30 1	30 fl oz (US) 1.2			0.03	
¹ The blend percentage indicated (by weight) is listed separate	sly for cementitio	us materials and	aggregates.		27.00	
Total Water Content (including water in admixtu	res), Ib		250			
Water / Cementitious Material Ratio:	**		0.4			
Concrete Unit Weight, pcf			140.5			
Target Slump, in.		1	1.5±0,5			
Paste Content, percent		1	27.39%			
Workability Factor (WF)	Target:	35.0	Actual:	36.8		
Coarseness Factor (CF)	Target:	60.2	Actual:	58.5		
Prepared On:		7/10	/14 3:17 PM			

Prepared By:

US-91 Paving Mixture

4500 ItD Paving

	#	Material	Description	Amount		Based On
1>>	0	BRIG-SND PokeySa	JFINE AGG	1,043.000	ІЬ	0.000
2	1	POC-#57 '	COARSE AGG	1,260.000	Ш	0.000
3	2	BRIG-#4 1.5 Rock	BRIG-#4	460.000	Ь	0.000
4	3	DUR-1/II	CEMENT	584.000	Ш	0.000
5	4	NAVAJO	FLYASH	145.000	ІЬ	0.000
6	5	WATER	COLD WATER	34.000	gl	0.000
7	6	MICRO-AE	AIR	20.000	oz	0.000
8	7	P-200N	MR-WATER REDUCER	22.000	oz	0.000
9	8	DELVO	HYDRATION STABILIZER	25.000	oz	0.000
×						

Thornton Interchange Mixture

		<u></u>					
MV A	TT	TD	D (
W A		EF	i D				
D		T T					
ince a d	y Mili	ж. — П П	1 C.	342 West 4th N	orth • P.O. Box	390 · Rexburg, Idaho	83440
				PHONE (208) 356-5	491 • FAX (208)	356-5553 · EMAIL: v	wm:@ida.net
Mix# 500F- Class	40F						
Project: ITD-NH-6	470(129) I hornto	n Interc	hange			
Hump-4	0 0"			Date: 1/29/16			
	<u>R-8</u>			Contractor: C	annon Bidre	5	
MATERIALS	:		VOL.	Contractor. Ca	annon bluis.		WEIGHT
% Air:	6.5		1.76				·
Gal water:	31.0		4.14	Halaim I II			258.54
bsFly Ash:	164		1.14	Navaio class E			164.00
ilica Fume:				S.F. 100			101.00
Sub Total:	9.55		17,45				
S/A Ratio:	38.00	Source		SPEC.GRAV.			
Sand:	6.63	MA-22	6.63	2.43	62.40	151.63	1005.32
% Split:		MA-68		2.51	62.40	156.62	
3/4" Rock:	10.82	MA-68	10.82	2.61	62.40	162,86	1762.18
3/8"% Split:		MA-22		2.47	62.40	154.12	
W/C Ratio:	0.393		27.00			lbs/cuya	3684.04
			-			lbs/c.f.:	136.45
and	Wet	Dry	Jotai	Moisture %	Abso	3.15	ISTURE
/4 "Rock		Dry	. 0	0.00		0.8	
				0.00		0.8	
ree Water						8.0	
and		Per Yard					
/4" Rock		Per Yard					
		Per Yard		Admixtures:	Proc	duct:	Dose:
POZ	AIR			Water Reducer	MP-9	22N	5 oz /cwt
				Set Control	MS-E	Delvo	To meet spec
				HRWR	PS-	1466	To meet spec
				A 1 1 Kung A		0.000	

Appendix B

CTE Data from LTPP Database for Rigid Pavement Sections in Idaho and Washington

SHRP ID	District	Aggregate type	CTE [x 10 ⁻⁶ in/in/°F]
			5.06
			5.06
			4.72
			5.22
			4.94
		Croupl Jan e que Codine entern	5.06
16-3017	5	Gravel, Igneous Sedimentary,	5.28
		Limestone	5.00
			4.89
			4.56
			4.72
			4.61
			Average 4.92
			St. dev. 0.22
			5.00
	3	Gravel, Igneous Sedimentary, Chert or Diabase	4.44
			4.28
			4.33
			3.83
16-3023			4.11
			3.94
			4.07
			4.01 Average / 26
			St day 0.27
			51. UEV. 0.57
			5.07
			5.61
			5.51
			5.28
		Gravel Igneous Sedimentary	5.61
16-5025	5	Quartzite	5.56
		Qualizite	5.61
			5.39
			5.56
			Average 5.56
			St. dev. 0.13

SHRP ID	District	Aggregate type	CTE [x 10 ⁻⁶ in/in°F]
			4.56
			5.50
			5.89
			5.50
F2 2011	Not applicable	Gravel, Igneous plutonic, Granite or	4.56
53-3011	Not applicable	basalt	4.83
			4.72
			5.17
			Average 5.09
			St. dev. 0.50
			5.28
			4.89
F2 2012	Not applicable	Gravel, Igneous extrusive or	4.83
53-3013	Not аррисаріе	plutonic, andesite or granite	6.11
			Average 5.28
			St. dev. 0.59
	Not applicable	Gravel, igneous extrusive, basalt or andesite	3.89
			4.78
			4.56
			4.11
F2 2014			4.56
53-3014			3.94
			4.33
			4.11
			Average 4.29
			St. dev. 0.32
			4.56
			4.50
			4.33
			4.50
			4.56
			4.72
53-3019	Not applicable	Gravel igneous extrusive basalt	4.61
55 5015		Gravel, igneous extrusive, basalt	4.39
			4.44
			4.11
			4.33
			4.50
			Average 4.46
			St. dev. 0.16

SHRP ID	District	Aggregate type	CTE [x 10 ⁻⁶ in/in/°F]
53-3812	Not applicable	Gravel, igneous plutonic, basalt or andesite	4.89 4.94 4.67 4.89 4.89 4.83 8.89 5.17 4.28 4.39 4.44 4.67 5.17 4.28 4.39 4.44 4.67 5.17 4.28 Average 5.03 St. dev. 0.12
53-3813	Not applicable	Gravel, igneous extrusive, basalt	3.44 3.94 3.44 4.17 4.06 4.28 4.28 4.22 4.39 3.72 3.89 4.06 4.06 3.56 4.67 3.72 3.78 4.22 4.22 4.22 4.20 5.72 3.78 4.22 4.22 4.22 4.22 4.22 4.22 4.22 4.23 5.56 4.67 3.72 3.78 4.22 4.22 4.22 5.72 3.78 4.22 4.22 4.22 5.72 3.78 4.22 4.22 4.23 5.72 3.78 4.22 4.00 Average 4.00 St. dev. 0.32
53-7409	Not applicable	Gravel, igneous extrusive, basalt	4.17 3.83 4.22 3.89 4.06 4.22 Average 4.03 St. dev. 1.70
53-A800	Not applicable	Gravel, igneous extrusive, basalt	3.94

Appendix C

Mill Certificates for Cementitious Materials

LAF	ARG	E					
CEN	IENT						
	Cen Month	nent M n of Issue:	III Test Report MARCH 2016				
Plant: Product: Mill Test Report <i>#</i> Manufactured:			Richmond, British Columbia Portland Cement Type I/II R-TI-16-03 FEBRUARY 2016				
A	STM C 150-12	and AASH	TO M 85-12 Standard Requirem	ients ANALYSIS			
on Emilio			1 III OICH L				
Item	Spec limit	Test Result	Item	Spec limit	Test Re	sult	
Rapid Method, X-Ray (C 114)			Air content of mortar (%) (C 185)	12 max	4.9		
SIO2 (%)	6.0 max	20.2	Bisine Einenese (m2/kg) (C 204)	200 - 430	395		
Fe2O3 (%)	6.0 max	33	Dialite Filleness (hizing) (C 204)	260 - 450	333		
CaO (%)		63.6	Passing 45 µm (%) (C 430)	72 min	98.7		
MgO (%)	6.0 max	0.8	r assing to an (15) (o too)				
SO3 (%)	3.0 max*	3.1	Autoclave expansion (%) (C 151)	0.80 max	-0.02		
Loss on ignition (%)	3.0 max	2.7					
Insoluble residue (%)	0.75 max	0.2	Compressive strength (MPa, [PSI]) (C 109	9			
CO2 (%)		1.7			Mpa	PSI	
Limestone (%)	5.0 max	4.1	3 days	12.0 [1740] min	28.2	4080	
CaCO3 In Limestone (%)	70 min	98	7 days	19.0 [2760] min	34.5	5000	
Adjusted Detection Diseas Com	position (C.16		28 days (Reflects previous month's data)	28.0 [4060] min	44.4	6440	
Adjusted Potential Phase Con	position (c is	,0)	Time of setting (minutes)				
C35 (%)		52	Vicat Initial (C 191)	45 - 375	94		
C2S (%)		19					
C3A (%)	8 max	7	False Set (%)	50 min	88		
C4AF (%)	-	10	Heat of Hydration (C186)** - 28 day (KJ/Kg	0	399		
C3\$+4.75*C3A (%)	100 max	84	Colour (Lafarge Index)	-	30		
			Mortar Bar Expansion (%) (C 1038)**	0.020 max	0.007		
ASTM C 150-09 and AASHTO I NaEd (%)	A 85-09 Optional Ch	emical Requirem	ienta:				
* May exceed 3.0% 803 maxim * Current Production run not a Note: Specific gravity for Por We certify that the above desc of applicable DOT Specificatio ASTM C 150-12 & AASHTO M I	ribed cement, at the ns for Type I and Ty 85-12 STANDARD SI	esso s8 recults of <0.029 provided ered to be 3.16 e time of shipmer pe II; PECIFICATIONS	6 expansion at 14 days, C1038 losted G4-16 nt, meets the chemical and physical requirer FOR TYPE I AND TYPE II CEMENT;	nents			
ASTM C 150-12 & AASHTO M 8	35-12 OPTIONAL CH	EMICAL REQUI	REMENTS FOR TYPES I & II LOW ALKALI CE	EMENT. Certified Bv:			
Western Bill - Rishmond	Questions	or enquiries can	be directed to Rob Shogren			-	
7611 No 9 Rd Richmond, BC		Hob Shogren, PhD Lafarge - Technical	Director	10			
604 244 4300	7811 No 9 Rd Richmond, BC Lafarge - Technical Director 804 244 4300 5400 W Marginel Way SW, Seattle WA Harold Ptachtyk B.Sc., PChem P + 1206 923 9953 Quality Manager 5 Elbh Shoreradfiatemetholism.com 3/14/2016						



ASH GROVE CEMENT COMPANY WESTERN REGION 33060 SHIRTTAIL CREEK ROAD P.O. BOX 287 DURKEE, OREGON 97905 (541) 877-2411

Durkee Plant Mill Test Report

Mill Analysis No. 16-10 Bin No. 2,3,4,D

Cement Type I-11 L.A. Production Period April 1 thru April 30, 2016 Date 05-10-2016

iĝ.

0.62

STANDARD REQUIREMENTS

ASTM C150

	CHEMI	CAL		PHYSICAL				
Item	(C114)	Spec. Limit '	Fest Result	Item		Spec. Limit	Test Result	
SiO2 (%)		A	21.3	Air Content of Mor	tar (volume %)			
Al2O3(%))	6.0 max.	3.5	C185		12 max.	6.1	
Fc2O3(%))	6.0 max.	3.3	Fineness (m²/kg)				
GaO (%)		A	64.1	C204 (Air pe	ermeability)	260 min.	393	
MgO (%)		6.0 max.	2.1	Autoclave Expansio	on (%)	0.80 max.	0.021	
SO3 (%)		D	2.8	C151				
Loss On I	gnition (%)	3.0 max.	1.44	Compressive Streng	th Psi (Mpa)	Min.:		
Na2O (%))	A	0.22	C109	1 Day	Α	2100 (14.5)	
K2O (%)		A	0.46		3 Davs	1740 (12.0)	4170 (28.8)	
TiO2 (%)		Λ	0.27		7 Days	2760 (19.0)	5350 (36.9)	
P2O5 (%)		A	0.16			3 4		
Mn2O3 (*	×4)	Λ	0.07	Time of Setting (mi	nutes)			
Insoluble	Residue (%)	0.75 max.	0.43	C191	(Vicat)			
						not less than		
CO2 (%)		A	0.94		Initial	45	124	
Limestone	: %	5.0 max.	2.33					
						not more		
CaCO3 in	Limestone	70 min.	99.35		Final	than 375	230	
C3S + 4.7	5C3A	100 max.	78					
Potential (Compounds (%)	C						
	C3S	Α	59					
	C2S	A	16					
	C3A	8.0 max.	4					
	C4AF	A	10					
	C4AF+2(C3A)	Α	18					

OPTIONAL REQUIREMENTS

ASTM C150, (other)

CHE	MICAL			PHYSICA	L	
Item	Spec. Limit	Test Result	Item		Spec. Limit	Test Result
Equivalent Alkalies (%)	0.60 max.	0.52	False Set (%) C451		50 min.	89
Chloride (%)	В	0.002	Heat of Hydration (cal /g)	C186		
				7 days	в	80
$\Lambda = not applicable$			Compressive Strength (Mpa))		
B = Test results represents most r	recent value and is prov	rided		28 Days	4060 (28.0)	F
for informational purposes of	only.		Sulfate Resistance (%)	C452	0.040	0.032
C = Adjusted per A 1.6.			Water Expansion (%)	C1038	0.020	0.006

D = C1038 expansion in water does not exceed 0.02 at 14 days.

F = Test results for this production period not yet available.

Thistoph & Catterian

We certify that the above described cement, at the time of shipment, mores the chemical and physical requirement of the ASTM C150-16 or AASHTO M-85 -12 Type I-II specification also will meet CSA A3000-13 Type GU, MS and HS.



В

Title: Chief Chemist

% retain on 45µm sieve

Signature:



Cement

FLY ASH TEST REPORT

Analysis by:	Lafarge Seattle Concrete Lab
Sample from :	Centralia Power Plant
Average Analysis:	December 1 - 31, 2015
Test Report Number	1-16 Class F

Chemical Analysis

	Results	Limits
Silicon Diaxide (SiO ₂)	48.6 %	
Aluminum Oxide (Al ₂ O ₂)	16.7 %	
Iron Oxide (Fe ₂ O ₃)	6.3 %	
Total (SIO ₂) + (Al ₂ O ₃) + (Fe ₂ O ₂)	72 %	70% Min - ASTM
Sulphur Trioxide (SO ₃)	0.9 %	5% Max - ASTM
Calcium Oxide (CaO)	13 %	
Magnesium Oxide	5.6 %	
Moisture Content	0.13 %	3% Max - ASTM
Loss on Ignition	0.34 %	6% Max - ASTM
Available Alkali as Equiv. Na ₂ 0 (previous month's result)	0.95 %	

Physical Analysis

Fineness Retained on 45 um (No. 325 Sieve)	15.0 %	34% Max - ASTM
Strength Activity Index with Portland Cement		
% of Control at 7 Days	90 %	75% Min - ASTM
% of Control at 28 Days (previous month's result)	106 %	75% Min - ASTM
Water Requirement, Percent of Control	95 %	105% Max-ASTM
Autoclave Expansion	0.03 %	0.8% Max - ASTM
Density	2.68 Mg/m ²	

Uniformity Requirements

Density, Variation from Average	0.00 %	5% Max - ASTM
Fineness 45um Sieve, Variation from Average	2.40 %	5% Max - ASTM

We hereby certity that the composite fly ash sample above meets the chemical and physical requirements of ASTM C618 and AASHTO M295 for class F and C fly ash.

A.J. Shagen Certified :

Rob Shogren Technical Director

WESTERN REGION 5400 West Marginal Way SW, Seattle, Washington 98106-1517 Office: 206.923.0098 or 800.477.0100 Fax: 206.923.0388



Cement

FLY ASH TEST REPORT

Analysis by: Sample from :	Edmonton Mortar Lab Sundance Power Plant			
Average Analysis:	May 2016			
Test Report Number	6-16 Class F			
Chemical Analysis				
		Recuits		Limits
Silicon Dioxide (SIO ₂)		56.9	%	
Aluminum Oxide (Al ₂ O ₃)		23.3	%	
Iron Oxide (Fe ₂ O ₃)		3.5	%	
Total (SIO ₂) + (Al ₂ O ₃) + (Fe ₂ O	D ₃)	83.7	%	70% Min - ASTM
Sulphur Trioxide (SO ₃)		0.2	%	5% Max - ASTM
Calcium Oxide (CaO)		9.6	%	
Magnesium Oxide		1.0	%	
Moisture Content		0.06	%	3% Max - ASTM
Loss on Ignition		0.61	%	6% Max - ASTM
Available Alkali as Equiv. Na;	20 (previous month's result)	0.41	%	

Physical Analysis

Fineness Retained on 45 um (No. 325 Sieve)	24.6 %	34% Max - ASTM
Strength Activity Index with Portland Cement		
% of Control at 7 Days	78 %	75% Min - ASTM
% of Control at 28 Days (previous month's result)	89 %	75% Min - ASTM
Water Requirement, Percent of Control	97 %	105% Max- ASTM
Autoclave Expansion	0.07 %	0.8% Max - ASTM
Density	' 2.03 Mg/m ³	

Uniformity Requirements

Density, Variation from Average	0.05 %	5% Max - ASTM
Fineness 45um Sieve, Variation from Average	0.00 %	5% Max - ASTM

We hereby certify that the composite fly ash sample above meets the chemical and physical requirements of ASTM C618 and AASHTO M295 for class F and C fly ash.

Robert S. Shagnen Certified :

WESTERN REGION 5400 West Marginal Way SW, Seattle, Washington 98106-1517 Office: 206.923.0098 or 800.477.0100 Fax: 206.923.0388

ECHNICAL REPORT					
IL CERTIFIED CONCRETE TESTING LABORAT ACCORDANCE WITH CSA A283-06	DRY				amor
0	Chemical a Develope	d For: ENX Incorpora P.O. Box 6702 Meadowlark Pd Edmonton AB	Analysis o ted 5 ostal Outlet	f Fly Ash	foster wheeler
Project: 0	CA18390	Plant of Origin: G	enesee	Sample Date:	March 1-31, 201
Report Date: 1	7-May-16	Sample ID: 16	SENX-3	Date Received	26-Feb-16
				ASTM C 618-12a	Specifications
Chemical Compo	sition (%)			Class F	Class C
Total Silica, Aluminum	, Iron:	80.5		70.0 Min	50.0 Min
Silicon Dioxide			55.5		
Aluminum Oxide	5		20.5		
Iron Oxide:			4.5		
Sulfur Trioxide:		0.20			5.0 Max
Calcium Oxide:		8.9			
Moisture Content		0.0		3.0 Max	3.0 Max
Loss on Ignition:		0.6		6.0 Max	6.0 Max
	12.000000	1919		AASHTO M295-11	Specifications
Available Alkalies (as I	Na ₂ O):	1.3		1.5 Max	1,5 Max
Sodium Oxide:			0.93		
Potassium Oxide	5		0.48		
Physical Te	st Results			ASTM C 618-12a	Specifications
Finance Deteined on t	19.25 Clours (9/):	24.4		Class F 34 May	Glass C 34 May
Fineness, Retained on #	320 Sieve (76).	24.4		34 Wax	J4 IVIAX
Strength Ac	tivity Index (%)				
Ratio to Cor	ntrol @ 7 Days:	77.0			
Ratio to Cont	rol @ 28 Days:	79.7		75 Min	75 Min
Water Requirement	nt. % of Control	94.7		105 Max	105 Max
Soundness, Autoclave	Expansion (%):	0.1		0.8 Max	0.8 Max
Drying Shrinkage, Increase (@ 28 Days (%):			0.03 Max	0.03 Max
	Density Mg/m ³ :	2.02			

· Meets Class F, ASTM C 618-12a Specification

(Final Report)

Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure

Justa Man

Justin Han, E.I.T. Materials Engineer-in-Training Reviewed By:

das

Tony Lai, P.Eng. Senior Project Manager

Reporting of these test results constitutes a testing service only. Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the test results is provided only on written request.



HEADMAATERS Company

Material Safety Data Sheet

ASS F FLY ASH

SUBBITUMINOUS COAL FLY ASH

Jim Bridger Power Plant, Rock Springs, WY U.S.A.

(801) 984-9400 Information Phone Number

Prepared: October 25, 2001 (reviewed June 2004)

(800) 241-7799 Emergency Phone Number

TOTAL SUM	SECTION	1 - MATERIAL IDENTIFICAT	ION AND INFO	DRMATION	and shake which it
INGREDI	ENT	FORMULA	%(1)	OSHA PEL(2)	ACGIH TLV (2)
Aluminosilicate Gla	55	Contains Al, Ca, Si, Fe, Mg, Ti	85-90	Not Listed (3)	Not Listed (3)
	Total	SiO ₂	5-10	30/% SiO2+2 (4)	0.3
Crystalline Silica	Respirable	SiO ₂	See Note (5)	10/% SiO2+2 (4)	0.1
Iron Minerals		Fe ₂ O ₃ Fe ₃ O ₄	2-6	10	5
Lime		CaO	5-9	5	2
Magnesia		MgO	< 6	15	10
Titania		TiO ₂	< 5	15	10
Sodium Oxide		Na ₂ O	< 4	Not Established	Not Established

Notes:

(1) Values approximate. This fly ash is the product of combustion of subbituminous coal. It is a complex inorganic substance composed, primarily, of compounds of the elements silicon, aluminum, iron, and calcium, with smaller amounts of magnesium, titanium, sodium, and potassium. This fly ash has not been classified by particle size.

(2) Airborne exposure limits in mg/m3

(3) Not listed specifically by substance name. Exposure to aluminosilicate glass dust may be covered by inert or nuisance dust limits of 15 mg/m³ for total dust and 5 mg/m³ for respirable portion.

(4) The percentage of crystalline silica in the formula is the amount determined from airborne samples.

(5) Presence of respirable crystalline silica has not been established

SECTION 2 - PHYSICAL / CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS

Boiling Point: N/A

Vapor Pressure (mmHg and Temperature): N/A Vapor Density (Air = 1): N/A Solubility in Water: Slight Appearance and Odor: Fine Brownish-Grey, Odorless Powder

Specific Gravity (H₂O = 1): 2.2-2.5 Melting Point: >1990° F Evaporation Rate: N/A Water Reactive: Not Reactive

SECTION 3 - FIRE AND EXPLOSION HAZARD DATA

Extinguisher Media: Use extinguishing matter suitable for surrounding fire. Flammability Limits in Air (% by Volume): N/A Special Fire Fighting Procedures: N/A

Auto Ignition Temperature: N/A LEL: N/A UEL: N/A Flash Point and Method Used: N/A

Unusual Fire and Explosion Hazards: None. This mineral matter is considered non-flammable and non-combustible. Use fire extinguishing agent suitable for surrounding media.

SECTION 4 - REACTIVITY HAZARD DATA

Stability: Considered to be stable.

Hazardous Decomposition Products: Decomposition products are unknown and not suspected.

Hazardous Polymerization: Hazardous polymerization not known to occur.

Reactivity: Material is considered inert.

Conditions to Avoid: None.

N/A = Not Applicable

Appendix D ITD PCC-ME Database

Note: This Database is provided in an Excel Book for all mixes. This appendix includes summary tables for all results. The raw data for all tests are provided, as a backup, only in the Excel book due to its size.

Main Screen

AASHTOWare Pavement ME Design Idaho PCC Mixes ITD Research Project RP253					
District Number with Mixture Description (<u>Please click on the Mix for</u> <u>Details</u>)	Cement Type Specified by Mixture Design	Fly Ash Type Specified by Mixture Design	PCC RAW Data		
District 1, Structural Mixture	Lafarge Type I/II	No Fly Ash	RAW DATA		
District 1, I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture, 2015	Lafarge Type I	Centralia	RAW DATA		
District 1, I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture, 2016	Lafarge Type I	Sundance	RAW DATA		
District 2, Thain Road Paving Mixture	Ash Grove Type I/II	Sundance	RAW DATA		
District 2, US-95 Race Creek Bridge	Ash Grove Type I/II	ENX Genesee Class F	RAW DATA		
District 3, I-84 Paving Mixture	Ash Grove Type I	Type F, Headwaters	RAW DATA		
District 5, US-90 Paving Mixture	Ash Grove Type I /II	Naavajo	RAW DATA		
District 6, Thornton Interchange Mixture	Lafarge Type I/II	Naavajo	RAW DATA		

District 1, SH-5 Bridge Crossing

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	142.9
Poisson's ratio	0.16

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	4.83
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	611
Water to cement ratio	0.41
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-295.000
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	33
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 1: PCC strength and modulus

	Modulus of rupture		
Time	(psi)	Elastic modulus (psi)	Split tensile strength (psi)
7-day	630	3.55E+06	410
14-day	655	3.80E+06	465
28-day	715	4.25E+06	490
90-day	730	4.55E+06	510
20-year/28-day	1.2	1.2	1.2

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	4040
14-day	4630
28-day	4870
90-day	5270
20-year/28-day	1.35

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)	
28-day 4870		
OR		
Time Modulus of rupture (psi)		
28-day 715		

District 1, I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture, 2015

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	148.1
Poisson's ratio	0.14

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	3.75
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	688
Water to cement ratio	0.35
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-315.000
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	33
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	4830
14-day	5470
28-day	5510
90-day	6560
20-year/28-day	1.35

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)	
28-day	5510	
OR		

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)
28-day	895

District 1, I-90 Lookout Pass Paving Mixture, 2016

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	142.8
Poisson's ratio	0.16

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	3.78
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	688
Water to cement ratio	0.37
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-540.833
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	35
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 1: PCC strength and modulus

	Modulus of rupture		
Time	(psi)	Elastic modulus (psi)	Split tensile strength (psi)
7-day	620	3.20E+06	375
14-day	665	3.35E+06	440
28-day	810	3.50E+06	520
90-day	995	4.75E+06	615
20-year/28-day	1.2	1.2	1.2

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	3500
14-day	4360
28-day	4640
90-day	5560
20-year/28-day	1.35

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
28-day	4640

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)
28-day	810

District 2, Thain Road Paving Mixture

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	144.7
Poisson's ratio	0.19

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	4.51
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	611
Water to cement ratio	0.40
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-565.667
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	31
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	3760
14-day	5130
28-day	5160
90-day	5830
20-year/28-day	1.35

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
28-day	5160

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)
28-day	785

District 2, US-95 Race Creek Bridge

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	145.6
Poisson's ratio	0.20

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	5.38
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	625
Water to cement ratio	0.35
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-481.667
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	31
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	5340
14-day	5610
28-day	6900
90-day	7560
20-year/28-day	1.35

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
28-day	6900

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)
28-day	810

District 3 - I-84 Paving Mixture

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	140.2
Poisson's ratio	0.15

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	5.08
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	625
Water to cement ratio	0.36
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-352.000
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	37
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	3890
14-day	4510
28-day	5590
90-day	6400
20-year/28-day	1.35

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
28-day	5590
OR	

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)
28-day	745

District 5 - US-90 Paving Mixture

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	140.2
Poisson's ratio	0.16

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	3.79
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	729
Water to cement ratio	0.34
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-545.833
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	36
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)	
7-day	4540	
14-day	4850	
28-day	5080	
90-day	5930	
20-year/28-day	1.35	

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)		
28-day	5080		
	OR		

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)
28-day	775

District 6 - Thornton Interchange Mixture

PCC

Unit weight (pcf)	139.1
Poisson's ratio	0.16

Thermal

PCC coefficient of thermal expansion (in./in./deg F x 10^-6)	3.83
PCC thermal conductivity (BTU/hr-ft-deg F)	1.25
PCC heat capacity (BTU/lb-deg F)	0.28

Mix

Cement type	Type I (1)
Cementitious material content (lb/yd^3)	658
Water to cement ratio	0.38
Aggregate type	Limestone (1)
PCC zero-stress temperature (deg F)	-
Ultimate shrinkage (microstrain)	-366.667
Reversible shrinkage (%)	50
Time to develop 50% of ultimate shrinkage (days)	31
Curing method	Wet Curing

Strength

Level 1: PCC strength and modulus

	Modulus of rupture		
Time	(psi)	Elastic modulus (psi)	Split tensile strength (psi)
7-day	500	2.95E+06	350
14-day	615	3.60E+06	385
28-day	770	3.80E+06	455
90-day	955	4.40E+06	525
20-year/28-day	1.2	1.2	1.2

Level 2: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
7-day	2800
14-day	3390
28-day	4310
90-day	5260
20-year/28-day	1.35

Level 3: PCC strength and modulus

Time	Compressive strength (psi)
28-day	4310

Time	Modulus of rupture (psi)
28-day	770